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FOREWORD 
 
 
I am very pleased as Chairman of the Board to provide this Foreword to the Annual Report and 
Accounts for the year 2020.  
 
First and foremost, I want to pay tribute to all involved in St. John’s who responded so selflessly to 
the emerging health crisis provoked in March 2020 by the Covid pandemic. At the very beginning 
of 2020, no-one could have predicted the true extent of the challenges that our Healthcare system, 
the nation and the world would have to face from coronavirus. Though a very stressful time for 
many, St. John’s hospital staff, at all levels, continued to show great care, discipline and 
attentiveness. Everyone, in every role went above and beyond to serve our Hospital and local 
community and played an important role in supporting each other.  
 
In the first wave of the pandemic, St John’s experienced a Covid infection outbreak which placed a 
great strain on our staff and services as we quickly had to adapt to caring for patients in urgent need 
of full nursing and medical care while dealing with a highly transmissible virus. After the Summer 
period we experienced a second wave of Covid, with many more people succumbing to the virus 
and needing to be cared for in a hospital setting. The number of patients in our facilities stretched 
our staff and services to the limit. It was an especially sad time for patients and their families who 
lost loved ones as a result of Covid, which was also very difficult for our staff. There was the added 
pressure of staff sickness, illness in the family and the requirement to self-isolate which further 
strained the resources of colleagues doing all they could, as always, for those who needed them.  
 
Retired professionals returned to work and others were willingly redeployed to help hard-pressed 
teams. Staff worked extra shifts and long hours and some even left their young families so they 
could continue to care for our patients. We adopted new ways of working to minimise transmission 
of the virus and learned the true value of digital communication to stay in touch with patients and 
colleagues we could not see face to face. From December 2020 we began to support the regional 
Covid vaccination programme, and many of our staff trained up to administer vaccines to patients, 
colleagues and the general population of the Mid-west. Many other members of our staff redeployed 
to University Hospital Limerick to work in the Critical Care Unit alongside UHL colleagues to look 
after the most critically ill patients affected by the pandemic.  
 
We were delighted to witness the positive media coverage on a national and international level to 
our House of Courage video which portrayed our staff’s experience of looking after patients with 
Covid. Our story featured on RTE and the video also appeared on the website of the International 
Council of Nursing based in Geneva. 
 
There were other important highlights for the Hospital during 2020. Thanks to the collaborative 
developments between our Respiratory and Pharmacy services, we became a designated specialist 
centre for asthma treatment which reflects the high quality clinical leadership and expertise 
available to patients at St John’s Hospital. 
 
Ms Margaret Finn, our Director of Nursing retired following more than a decade of nursing services 
to our Hospital. We are very grateful to Margaret for her services to patients and staff and especially 
for her nursing leadership throughout the pandemic. We wish her well in her retirement. 
  
We were also pleased to welcome the appointment of our new Director of Nursing & Infection 
Prevention and Control, Ms Michele Burke, and look forward to the experiences Michelle brings to 
St John’s at both an exciting and challenging time in healthcare.  We wish her the very best in her 
new role. 
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We continue to pursue the proposed capital development of the hospital and the Board will carry 
on advocating for this very necessary development. Once again, however, 2020 has been a time of 
great challenge in terms of pressures being faced in finance while responding to the needs of an 
increasing healthcare population in a complex healthcare climate.  
 
Once again, I would like to thank all the staff for their continuing dedication and commitment to 
the provision of first-class patient care. I would also like to acknowledge the support from UL 
Hospitals Group as many of our resources were pooled together for the benefit of patient care in 
collectively overcoming the challenges of the first year of the pandemic. Finally, I would like to 
thank our Patient Partnership Forum for their ongoing support and assistance to the hospital.  
 
I look forward to continue working with you all over the coming years to ensure that St. John’s 
Hospital continues to provide high quality health care to our patients in keeping with our tradition 
and long history. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________ 
+Brendan Leahy, D.D.,  
Bishop of Limerick    
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 INTRODUCTION 
 
 
This Annual Report for the year ending 31 December 2020 gives details of activity levels and financial 
performance for both 2020 and 2019.  Annual Reports for Board Committee and Hospital Committees 
are reproduced herein.  Activity statistics are shown on Page 67.  The financial details are taken from 
the Audited Accounts and a copy of the Audited Accounts is reproduced herein.     
 
 
 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW 
 

Service Delivery 
 
(a)  Capital Development 
The Board continued to pursue St. John’s Capital Development during 2020 in light of the Covid-
19 pandemic, which posed significant challenges for the hospital in meeting the current required 
infection prevention and control standards in a 19th century building. The Board was informed by 
national HSE that the Condition Surveys being carried out in all acute hospitals will assist the HSE 
in planning for and prioritising refurbishments projects and that a full report on the process was due 
in summer 2020.  A draft report was issued in June and this largely supported the case that St. John’s 
Hospital had been making for years for a capital development at the hospital. The hospital 
representatives met with the local HSE Estates Manager and agreed some amendments to the draft 
report and a final report was awaited at year end. 
 
The HSE also referred to the 60 additional beds already prioritised for the UL Hospitals Group and 
which were being commissioned and stated that in partnership with the Sláintecare Programme 
office, it had started planning for the location and number of further additional acute and community 
beds, as set out in the Bed Capacity Review.  Planning for these will be influenced by broader 
reform of the health care system and by population projections and assessment of needs.  
 
ULHG submitted an 8-bed ward block proposal in May 2020 for St. John’s to the HSE to construct 
a modular extension unit to provide 8 single en-suite rooms to enable infection prevention and 
control standards to be met.  This proposal was later increased to a 16-bed unit.  As the year 2020 
progressed, HSE finances were directed at addressing the Covid-19 pandemic.  However, St. John’s 
proposal had not received approval at year end.      
 
(b)     Performance and Service Delivery 
The Hospital uses its performance management framework to gather and analyse complex 
information across a range of quality, operational and financial measures and indicators. This allows 
the Board to ensure effective action is being taken to address risks or uncertainty to the delivery of 
plans and objectives. External assessment of St John’s Hospital is an important part of this risk and 
control environment. The annual business planning is informed by the performance management 
framework to ensure future objectives address areas of risk or uncertainty. The main section of the 
report sets out key issues and risks for the Hospital as well as opportunities and risks that could 
affect the delivery of objectives and its future success and sustainability 
 
(c)  Succession Planning for Consultant Staff 
During the year there was extensive engagement with ULHG in attempting to put permanent 
consultant medical replacement posts in place but the situation remained unresolved at year end.  
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(d) Minor Capital Funding 2020 
St. John’s Hospital submitted an extensive application under the HSE’s National Equipment 
Replacement Programme for 2020. In addition to this, the HSE carried over the funding for the 
second X-Ray room’s equipment from 2019 to 2020 as promised. We received grant approval for 
endoscopy decontamination, defibrillators, theatre tables, gastroscopes, colonoscopies and 
bronchoscopes.    
 

 

Quality and Safety 
 
(a)   Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA) 
The HIQA inspection programme was paused during 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic.   
 
(b) National Patient Experience Survey 
The National Patient Experience Survey did not take place in 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic.   
 
(c)   Public Sector Energy Performance 
St. John’s Hospital continued to work towards the government’s objective to improve public sector 
energy efficiency by 33% by 2020. We are on target for 2020.  Energy conservation/efficiency 
improvement will continue to be a major consideration in all future works. 

 
(d)      Patient Experience 
We continued to provide high quality healthcare to the best of our ability during the Covid-19 
pandemic. This involved significant changes to practices, protocols and patient care pathways.  Our 
poor infrastructure posed an additional challenge for us.  A national restriction on visiting was 
imposed and this proved very difficult for patients, relatives and staff, particularly during end of life 
care.  Despite this, we received many very positive compliments from patients and their relatives 
for the professional care and compassion shown during these challenging times.  We also received 
some negative feedback. All complaints are taken very seriously and are thoroughly investigated 
and we try to address any shortcomings identified.  We received 162 compliments and 21 
complaints in total during 2020. 
 
(e)     Patient Safety 
Incident reporting to the National Incident Management System (NIMS) supports multidisciplinary 
incident reporting which includes a high level of reporting of near misses, no harm and minor harm 
incidents. Reporting of these ‘green’ incidents is seen as a key driver for identification and 
management of risks to prevent more serious harm.  
 
The Board reviews this data routinely and recognises an increased incident reporting rate as a 
positive reflection of an open culture within the organisation which supports learning.  
 
During 2020, a total of 665 patient safety incidents were reported (up by almost 30% compared with 
a total of 515 incidents reported in 2019).  
 
The Hospital has adopted the national incident management framework (NIMF). The NIMF is a 
key part of the Hospital’s patient safety culture and supports the Hospital’s aim to improve our 
understanding of safety by drawing insight from patient safety incidents. 
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Hospital Governance 
 
(a)  Amendment of Hospital Constitution Bye-Laws 
On formation of the new Board under the Hospital Constitution, it was agreed that meetings would 
be held six times a year.  The Hospital Bye-Laws were amended to reflect this change.   
 
(b)  Board Committee Terms of Reference 
The Board approved Terms of Reference for its newly established Risk, Quality & Safety 
Committee and Nominations and Governance Committee.  It also approved a revision of the Terms 
of Reference for its Audit Committee.    
 
(c) Covid-19 Pandemic Working Group 
The hospital established a multi-disciplinary Covid-19 Pandemic Working Group to facilitate 
governance and management of the pandemic.  This involved holding daily meetings to manage the 
virus and address issues as they emerged.  Members of the Working Group also participated in daily 
Hospital Crisis Management Team conference calls with ULHG.  
 
(d) Governance Manual 
The Board approved its Governance Manual in May 2020 following review by its Nomination and 
Governance Committee and the hospital’s legal advisor.     

 
(e)  Voluntary Hospital Agencies Risk Management Forum (VHARMF) Framework for 

Data Sharing 
 The Board approved the VHARMF Framework for Data Sharing in September 2020 following 

review by the hospital’s Data Protection Officer.  
 

(f)  Voluntary Healthcare Forum (VHF)    
The VHF prepared position papers on behalf of its members for fundamental reform to the Service 
Arrangement and governance model for Section 38 organisations and to develop an understanding 
of the Integrated Financial Management System (IFMS) and the potential governance issues it 
presents.  Both documents were presented to the Department of Health and HSE at a meeting in 
November 2020. The VHF also commissioned UCD to undertake an extensive review of the 
governance relationships between the State and Section 38 organisations and UCD reported its 
findings in November 2020 also.        
 
(g)  Annual Compliance Statement (ACS) 2020 
St. John’s Hospital signed its eight Annual Compliance Statement in May 2020. This involved the 
hospital, as a Section 38 Service Provider under the Health Acts, reviewing our governance 
arrangements and confirming that we are compliant with "good governance standards" and that 
payment of all senior staff was also in accordance with the national consolidated pay scales.  
 
(h)  Service Level Arrangement (SLA) 2020 
The Service Level Arrangement (SLA) for 2020, our annual contract of services with the HSE, was 
signed by St. John’s CEO and ULHG’s CEO.  
 
(i) UHLG Performance Meetings 
St John’s Executive team met with the ULHG executive team in the early and later stages of 2020.  
The meetings were paused from March to September to allow our hospitals to focus on supporting 
frontline staff to care for much higher numbers of very sick patients. The review meetings are very 
useful and provide a constructive forum to discuss issues affecting service delivery and management 
of resources. Our ability to meet our service targets was affected by the pause in elective hospital 
activity in line with government pandemic restrictions. 
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FINANCIAL  
     
Going concern  
 
The Board has a reasonable expectation that the Hospital will continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. The financial reporting framework applicable to public bodies, derived from 
the Department of Expenditure and Reform, defines that the anticipated continued provision of the 
entity’s services in the public sector is sufficient evidence of going concern.  
 
The comparable figures for 2020 and 2019, under the headings of overall expenditure and income, are 
shown hereunder.  The accumulated deficit at 31st December 2019 was €1,038,000 which was brought 
forward to 2020. The deficit decreased to €998,000 at 31st December 2020. 
 
 

 
 

2020 
€’000 

2019 
€’000 

% Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

 
(SURPLUS)/DEFICIT B/F 
FROM PREVIOUS YEAR 
 
SALARIES/WAGES 
 
GOODS/SERVICES 
 
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
 
INCOME  
 
NET EXPENDITURE 
 
ALLOCATION FROM 
HEALTH SERVICE 
EXECUTIVE 
 
(SURPLUS) DEFICIT 

 
 

1,038 
 

24,455 
 

6,840 
      

32,333 
 

3,254 
 

29,079 
 
 
 

28,081 
 

998 

 
 

500 
 

22,020 
 

7,722 
 

30,242 
 

5,940 
 

24,302 
 
 
 

23,264 
 

1,038 

 
 
 
 

11.1% 
 

(11.4%) 
 

6.9% 
 

(45.2%) 
 

19.7% 
 
 
 

20.7% 
 
 

 
Salaries and Wages  
Salaries and Wages increased by €2,435,000 (11.1%) compared to 2019, mainly due to a €1,118,000 
increase in Retirement Lump Sums/Pensions, national pay agreements and Covid-19 related 
expenditure. 
  
Goods and Services 
The cost of goods and services decreased by €882,000 (11.4%) compared to 2019. Areas where 
significant changes occurred were:- 
 

 2020 
€’000 

2019 
€’000 

% Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

MEDICAL & SURGICAL 
SUPPLIES 

1,619 1,916 (15.5%) 

X-RAY SUPPLIES / CONTRACTS 446 665 (32.9%) 

DRUGS & MEDICINES 888 1,065 (16.6%) 
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 Medical & Surgical Supplies decreased by €297,000 mainly due to a reduction in Theatre activity 
because of Covid-19. 

 X-Ray Supplies / Contracts decreased by €219,000 due to a reduction in activity because of Covid-
19 and also the costs of repairing the CT Scanner in 2019 were not repeated in 2020. 

 Drugs & Medicines decreased by €177,000 due to a reduction in activity because of Covid-19.  
 
Income 
Income decreased by €2,686,000 (45.2%) compared to 2019.  The main areas where significant 
changes occurred were:- 
 

 2020 
€’000 

2019 
€’000 

% Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

In-Patient Income 2,022 4,656 

 

(56.6%) 

Other Payroll 
Deductions 

429 463 (7.3%) 

 
 In-Patient Income decreased by €2,634,000 mainly due to a reduction in private patient activity 

because of Covid-19. 
 Other Payroll Deductions is the additional Pension Levy deducted from staff salaries. The 

amount deducted from each employee reduced in 2020 due to rate changes introduced by the 
Department of Finance.  

 
Allocation from Health Service Executive 
The allocation from the Health Service Executive in 2020 was €28.081m which was an increase of 
€4.817m compared to 2019. The allocation increased by €665,000 for National Pay Agreements, 
€1,210,000 for Retirement Lump Sums / Pensions and €2,900,000 for Covid-19. 
 
Prompt Payment of Accounts Act – Statement 
Payments to suppliers are made within thirty days of receipt of the invoice or delivery of the goods or 
services, whichever is the later, unless an alternative payment period is specified in an agreed contract.  
 
In 2020 there were 22 late payments totalling €98,555 which constituted 1.0% of total non-pay 
expenditure during 2020.  These late payments attracted interest payments of €429. 
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LEGAL & BANKING 2020 
 
Auditors:   Grant Thornton, 
    Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm,  
    Mill House, Henry Street, Limerick. 
      
Bank:    Bank of Ireland, 
    125 O’Connell Street, Limerick. 
 
Legal Advisors:  Dundon Callanan Solicitors, 
    17 The Crescent, Limerick. 
 
Insurance Brokers:  AON Ireland, 
    Metropolitan Building, James Joyce Street, Dublin 1.  

 
PATIENT PARTNERSHIP 
 
I would like to thank our Patient Partnership Forum for their continued support in 2020 to help us 
improve the quality of services that we provide to our patients. The Patient Partnership Forum are 
a valuable resource in identifying opportunities for service improvement and further collaboration 
between patients and staff. We greatly value and appreciate their involvement with the Hospital. 
 
 

STAFF 
 
I would finally like to thank each member of staff for their contribution throughout 2020.  Our staff 
are the face of St. John’s Hospital and they carry on living out our Mission Statement in their daily 
work and in their interactions with patients, families and other staff. I witnessed extraordinary 
examples of leadership throughout this challenging year and am confident the learning and 
collaboration between all members of staff will see the hospital grow from strength to strength as 
we move forward together. It is a truly humbling experience to be part of St. John’s Hospital during 
these times. 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Emer Martin 
Chief Executive 
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BOARD 
 
 

 

Member 
 

Role 
 

Appointment Period 

Most Rev. B. Leahy, D.D. Chairperson On holding office 
Cllr. Michael Sheahan* Member January – June 2020 
Cllr. Michael Collins** Member June – December 2020 
Very Rev. N. Kirwan Member On holding office 
Mr. Ralph Keane Member January – December 2020 
Dr Joe Lee Member/Deputy Chairperson January – December 2020 
Dr Catherine Casey Member January – December 2020 
Dr. Miriam Callanan Member January – December 2020 
Ms. Anne Fahy Member January – December 2020 
Ms. Audrey Fehily Member January – December 2020 
Mr. Richard Leonard  Member January – December 2020 
Mr. Conn Murray Member May – December 2020 
Cllr. Kieran O’Hanlon Member  January – December 2020 

* Tenure expired June 2030    ** Appointed to the Committee June 2020 
 
Attendance at Meetings 

 
For the period 01/01/2020 to 31/12/2020 
 
Management Committee / Board   Attendance 
 
Most Rev. Brendan Leahy (Chairperson)         6/6  
Cllr. Michael Sheahan (tenure expired June 2020)        3/3       
Cllr. Michael Collins (appointed June 2020)                          2/3 
Very Rev. Noel Kirwan           6/6 
Mr. Ralph Keane            4/6 
Dr Joseph Lee             6/6 
Dr Catherine Casey            5/6 
Dr. Miriam Callanan            5/6 
Ms. Anne Fahy            6/6 
Ms. Audrey Fehily            4/6 
Mr. Richard Leonard            6/6 
Mr. Conn Murray            3/4  
Cllr. Kieran O’Hanlon           5/6 
  

 

In Attendance 

Name Role 
Emer Martin Chief Executive/Secretary  
John Cummins Deputy Chief Executive   
Michelle Burke 
Margaret Finn 

Director of Nursing (November – December) 
Interim Director of Nursing (January – September)  

Patricia Keeshan Management Services Co-ordinator 
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SUB-COMMITTEE: AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
 The Committee met on 5 occasions during the year.    
 
Attendance at Meetings 

 
For the period 01/01/2020 to 31/12/2020 
 
Audit Committee  Attendance 
 
Mr. Richard Leonard, Chairperson         5/5 
Mr. Ralph Keane, Member          5/5  
Ms. Catherine Sheehan, Member         5/5 
 
In Attendance 
Ms. Emer Martin, Chief Executive 
Ms. Patricia Keeshan, Management Services Co-ordinator 
 

 
The hospital’s Audit Committee produced its Annual Report to the Board at its Annual General 
Meeting in November 2020.   It outlined the Committee’s activities and included a performance 
review and evaluation.   
 
The Board was satisfied with the activities of the Audit Committee and approved its Annual Report. 
 
A copy of the Audit Committee Annual Report is reproduced on the following pages.  
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AUDIT COMMITTEE  

2020 Annual Report to Board AGM 
 

Introduction 

In accordance with our Terms of Reference, I now submit the seventh Annual Report of St John’s 
Hospital Audit Committee to St John’s Hospital Board for your attention. 
  

Activity 

Since our report in December 2019 to the Board, Audit Committee meetings were held in April, 
June and September.  The final quarterly meeting for 2020 is scheduled for 9 December. 
 
1 April Meetings 
 
The meeting was conducted via teleconference due to COVID-19 requirements around social 
distancing restrictions.  The Committee reviewed the Internal Audit Plan 2020 submitted by Mr. 
James Brennan, the Internal Auditor.  Mr. Brennan then outlined the work conducted for Q1 2020.  
Update of the Financial Policies and Procedures Manual was the primary work conducted based on 
meetings with staff in all key areas including purchasing, payroll, human resources, the Deputy 
Chief Executive and the Financial Controller.  Mr. Brennan undertook to update the Manual based 
on feedback received. Issues that arose in respect of internal controls included: 
 

1. Payroll arrangements in place 
2. Non-pay / purchasing arrangements 
3. Internal management and structures 

 
The Committee discussed the issues in detail.  Ms. Emer Martin, Chief Executive said the work 
conducted by Mr. Brennan would be very helpful to her in implementing measures to address the 
issues raised.  
 
Ms. Fiona Cahill and Mr. Damian Gleeson, Grant Thornton also joined the meeting via 
teleconference.  Ms. Cahill made a presentation to the Committee on the 2019 audit conducted 
including:   
 

 Status of the audit and opinion 
 Significant risks 
 Other risk areas 
 Other matters identified during the course of the audit 
 Significant accounting policies 
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 Significant unusual transactions discussed with management 
 Summary of adjusted misstatements 
 Internal controls  

 
The Chairman confirmed that the hospital had received the draft accounts before lunch that day and 
had not had the opportunity to review same.  Results of the audit were discussed in detail.  Mr. 
Gleeson confirmed that the audit was subject to receipt of outstanding items but that they were 
happy to sign-off on the audit.  The Committee was reassured that there was no change from the 
draft accounts submitted and said it was a good reflection on St. John’s Finance Department.  The 
Committee undertook to review the draft financial statements and arrange a further teleconference. 
 
The Committee approved a few minor changes to its Terms of Reference.  

 
29 April Meeting 
 
The meeting was again conducted via teleconference due to COVID-19 requirements around social 
distancing restrictions. The Committee noted that Ms. Sheehan’s initial term of appointment expired 
in April 2020.  Appointments to the Committee are for a period of up to three years, which may be 
extended for two further three-year periods.  Ms. Sheehan confirmed that she was happy to be 
considered for re-appointment and the Chairman and Mr. Keane unanimously supported her re-
appointment.  The Committee’s recommendation would be brought to the Board for approval at its 
next meeting on 28 May 2020.  
 
The Committee noted that some minor errors in the opening text of the accounts had been discussed 
with the Auditors and amended.  The Committee discussed the draft accounts prior to Ms. Fiona 
Cahill and Mr. Damian Gleeson, Grant Thornton joining the teleconference.  Mr. Gleeson outlined 
the main aspects of the 2019 accounts. The Committee unanimously approved the draft accounts 
and recommended them to the Board for adoption. 
 
June Meeting 
 
The Committee noted that the hospital had received funding from the JP McManus Charitable 
Foundation for a new CT Scanner.   
 
Mr. James Brennan, Internal Auditor joined the meeting and presented the Audit 2020 Q2 Report.  
He outlined that he had updated the Draft Financial Policies & Procedures Manual and briefed the 
Committee on the changes.   The Committee discussed a number of issues in the document.  The 
Committee agreed that fundamental changes to the document should be brought to the attention of 
the Committee for approval and recommendation to the Board.  The Committee approved the 
document subject to the minor amendments discussed being made and agreed that the final draft 
should be forwarded to the Board for approval at its next meeting on 30 July 2020.    The Committee 
also agreed that the Manual should be updated on an annual basis to ensure that the financial data 
included in it was current at all times. 
 
The Committee discussed the issues raised by Mr. Brennan in the Internal Audit Report Q2.  Ms. 
Martin, Chief Executive undertook to prepare a Progress Report on same, to include management’s 
response and actions taken, for the next Committee meeting.   
Mr. Brennan outlined his work plan for Q3 which included matters that the Audit Committee wished 
to be reviewed i.e. travel expense claims, IT disaster recovery and HR policies.  The Committee 
proposed that Mr. Brennan liaise with Ms. Martin if he was unable to conduct any of his proposed 
work due to COVID-19.  Mr. Brennan added that the 2020 budget will adversely change due to 
COVID-19.  
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The Committee discussed Mr. Brennan’s annual contract which was due to expire at the end of June 
and agreed that it was happy to recommend the extension of Mr. Brennan’s contract to the Board.   
 
The Committee agreed that review of the Internal Auditor’s contract and the Policies and Procedures 
Manual should be placed on the Q1 Agenda going forward, to allow time for the Committee to 
review both documents prior to renewal / revision in Q2.  The Committee also agreed that as the 
Manual may require only minor updates going forward, the main focus of the Internal Auditor’s 
work will be at departmental level e.g. HR, Purchasing, Internal Control, Cyber security, etc. 
 
The Chairman undertook to prepare a Committee report for the Board for its meeting on 24 
September.   
   
September Meeting 
 
The Committee noted that the Chief Executive was reviewing Mr. Brennan’s annual contract before 
sign-off.   
 
Mr. Brennan joined the meeting and outlined work completed in Q3.  It included two aspects:  
     

1. Final feedback on the Financial Policies and Procedures Manual June/July 2020 
and Manual approved by the Board at its meeting on 30 July 2020 

2. Changes in management personnel and the fourteen issues arising from his work in 
Q2 

 
He then briefed the Committee on issues noted.  The Committee noted that Mr. Brennan had not 
conducted the proposed work due to COVID-19.  The Committee proposed that Mr. Brennan liaise 
with Ms. Martin if he was unable to conduct any of his proposed work due to COVID-19 as 
proposed at its last meeting.  Mr. Brennan queried if the Audit Committee wished to review the 
Work Plan in view of COVID-19 and proposed review of Purchasing SOPs, LIU procedures and 
test and liaise with staff regarding electronic payments. He would then make the necessary 
amendments to the Financial Manual.  The Committee proposed that Mr. Brennan and Ms. Martin 
agree a safe way of proceeding and agreed that the work identified be carried out and if it was 
necessary to revise the plan, the Committee was happy to delegate this to the Chief Executive.   
 
The Committee agreed to forward Mr. Brennan a copy of the Management Letter issued by the 
external auditors and proposed that Mr. Brennan agree a revised work plan with Ms. Martin for the 
next 3-6 months and forward a copy to the Committee.  The Committee delegated authority to Ms. 
Martin to instruct the internal audit service.   
 
The Committee noted that interviews were scheduled for 5 October 2020 for the post of Human 
Resources and Organisational Development Manager and that the Financial Controller intended to 
resign his post at year end/January 2021.  It was noted that the Financial Controller had committed 
to completing the 2020 audit.  

 
The Committee discussed roll-out of the new National Integrated Financial Management System 
(IFMS).  The HSE Chief Finance Officer (CFO) had made a presentation to key executives.  The 
Board Chairman had requested that the Audit Committee progress the matter of the IFMS.  The 
Chairman proposed that a further meeting with the CFO be deferred until the new Financial 
Controller took up post.   The Committee agreed that it was important at the interview process for 
the new Financial Controller that the candidate be asked about their ability to implement new IT 
systems.  The Committee noted the Voluntary Healthcare Forum’s concerns regarding the impact 
the system would have on the autonomy of S.38s and had drafted a Strategy, which included a list 
of issues for discussion with the HSE.   
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The Chairman undertook to prepare a Committee report for the Board for its meeting on 24 
September.   

 
Recommendations for Future Work  

1. Agree Internal Audit Plan 2021  
2. Review of Financial Policies and Procedures Manual – Q1 2021 
3. Review of Internal Auditor’s Contract – Q1 2021 
4. Progress the National Integrated Financial Management System (IFMS) – Q1 2021 
5. Meet with Auditors in advance of forthcoming audit 
6. Review management’s response to issues raised in 2019 Audit 
7. Review progress report on recommendations in Key Issue Memorandum  
8. Review progress report on recommendations in the Deloitte Report     

Performance Review and Evaluation  

The Audit Committee is satisfied that our activities have fulfilled the requirements set out in our 
Terms of Reference.  
 
I should like to thank the Administration of the hospital for their assistance and co-operation and 
the welcome support afforded to the Committee by Ms. Patricia Keeshan. 
 
I am pleased to present this report to the Board’s Annual General Meeting for its information and 
consideration.  
 
 

 
Signed:  _______________________________                       Date:  12 November 2020 
    Richard Leonard 
    Chairman 
    St John’s Hospital Audit Committee 
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SUB-COMMITTEE: RISK, QUALITY AND SAFETY  
COMMITTEE 
 
The Committee met on 4 occasions during the year.    
 
Attendance at Meetings 

 
For the period 01/01/2020 to 31/12/2020 
 
Audit Committee  Attendance 
 
Ms. Audrey Fehily, Chairperson         4/4 
Ms. Anne Fahy, Member          4/4  
Dr. Fasih Khan, Member          1/4  
Ms. Emer Martin, Member          2/4 
Mr. John Cummins, Member          4/4  
Ms. Margaret Finn, Member  (January – September)       2/2  
Ms. Michelle Burke, Member (November - December)  1/1 
Ms. Elma Herbert, Member           4/4 
Ms. Noreen Kennedy, Member (June – December)       2/3 
 
In Attendance 
Ms. Patricia Keeshan, Management Services Co-ordinator 
    

 
The hospital’s Risk, Quality and Safety Committee produced its Annual Report to the Board at its 
Annual General Meeting in November 2020.   It outlined the Committee’s activities and included a 
performance review and evaluation.   
 
The Board was satisfied with the activities of the Audit Committee and approved its Annual Report. 
 
A copy of the Audit Committee Annual Report is reproduced on the following pages.  
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RISK, QUALITY & SAFETY COMMITTEE 

2020 Annual Report to Board AGM 
 

Introduction 

In accordance with our Terms of Reference, I submit the first Annual Report of St John’s Hospital 
Risk, Quality & Safety Committee to St John’s Hospital Board for your attention. 
  

Activity 

The Risk, Quality & Safety Committee held its inaugural meeting on 11 March 2020.   Further 
meetings were held in July, September and November.   
 
 
11 March Meeting 
 
The Committee agreed to the minor amendments proposed by the Nominations and Governance 
Committee to their Terms of Reference.   
 
The Committee noted that the post of Quality and Patient Safety Manager was currently vacant and 
that interviews were due to be held the following week.   
 
The Committee agreed on the hospital-led Committees that would be reporting to it as follows: 
 

1. Audit & Research 
2. Drugs & Therapeutics 
3. Infection, Prevention & Control 
4. Nutrition & Hydration 
5. Radiation Safety 
6. Health & Safety hospital-led Committee    

 
Information for inclusion in reports from these Committees on a quarterly basis was discussed and 
agreed and it was agreed that a reporting template would be developed to assist Committees. 
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The Committee reviewed a report from the Risk Manager and noted the following: 
 
 Serious incidents 2019/2020 
 Summary of all incidents reported 2016-2019 broken down by department and incident 

category 
 Slips, Trips, Falls 2019 – by location 
 Incidents by Hazard Category 2019  
 Incidents by ‘Who was involved/Persons affected’ 2019 
 Incidents by Severity Rating 2019 
 Clinical Claims 
 A meeting was due to take place with Clinical Claims Manager, State Claims Agency to 

review all clinical claims 
 Safety Statements were under review.   
 Major Infrastructural Fire Safety Upgrade in the Main Hospital was recently completed 

arising from an audit carried out on behalf of the hospital insurers.  An Application for 
funding to upgrade non-patient areas had been submitted to HSE   

 Fire Safety Policy and Procedures and Department Fire Safety Handbooks were developed 
and are available to all staff    

 Fire training had been delivered to 60% of staff 
 Practical fire training is delivered on a monthly basis  

 
The Committee noted that the hospital proposed to establish a Serious Reportable Events (SRE) 
Response Team to develop a formal process for incident investigation including identifying the 
cause and ensuring close out.   
 
The Committee noted that the Patient Partnership Forum has played a very important and helpful 
role in the past and continues to assist with departmental walkabouts, review of patient information 
leaflets and acts as patient advocates.  The Committee agreed to review patient/ 
patient representatives on hospital committees at a future date.   
 
The Committee reviewed the Corporate Risk Register and noted the risks included, risk 
descriptions, existing controls and risk ratings.    
 
The Committee noted the following in respect of inspections: 
 
 The focus of HIQA Inspections was Decontamination of Medical Invasive Devices and 

Medical Exposure to Ionising Radiation but in light of the COVID-19 outbreak and the 
challenges it presented to the health service, HIQA had announced a temporary suspension 
of its routine programme of monitoring inspections in hospital based services and its 
inspections of all ionising radiation undertakings. 

 An inspection in respect of Blood Transfusion by the Irish National Accreditation  Board 
scheduled for 18 March 2020 had also been cancelled due to COVID-19.   

 Inspections by the Medical Council and the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Ireland had 
taken place in late 2019 and reports were still awaited.   

 
The Committee undertook to draft a Quality and Safety Strategy.     
 
The Chairperson undertook to prepare a brief report for the next Board meeting. 
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8 July Meeting 
 
The Committee welcomed Ms. Noreen Kennedy, the newly appointed Quality and Patient Safety 
Manager to the meeting.   
 
The Committee noted that the proposed Serious Reportable Events (SREs) Response Team had 
been established under the title Serious Incident Management Team (SIMT).  
 
Copies of reports from the following Committees were reviewed and discussed: 
 

1. Drugs & Therapeutics   
2. Infection Prevention & Control 
3. Nutrition & Hydration 
4. Radiation Safety  

 
A Committee reporting template had been developed to facilitate reporting and included the 
following information: 
 
 Aims and objectives 
 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) developed and monitored 
 Quality Improvements in progress 
 PPPG status 
 Risks identified and managed 
 Risks recorded on Risk Register 
  

A report from the Quality and Patient Safety Manager and Risk Manager was reviewed and 
discussed.  It included data in respect of: 
 
 Serious incidents reported on National Incident Management System (NIMS) 
 Newly identified risks on Corporate Risk Register 
 Annual reported incidents on NIMS 
 Incidents by Sub-Hazard type 
 Top 5 Incidents reported 01/01/2020 – 30/06/2020 
 Total open claims 
 On-line Fire Safety  
 Complaints/Compliments 2020 

 
15 September Meeting 
 
Copies of reports from the following Committees were reviewed: 
 

1. Drugs & Therapeutics   
2. Infection Prevention & Control 
3. Nutrition & Hydration 
4. Radiation Safety 

 
KPI results, quality improvements in progress, PPPGs developed/updated, risks identified and 
managed were discussed and noted.  The Corporate Risk Register was reviewed and the Committee 
noted that the risk in respect of the CT scanner had been closed as it had been replaced and the new 
CT Scanner was operational. 
 
The Committee reviewed a report from the Quality and Patient Safety Manager and Risk Manager 
and noted serious incidents reported, the top 5 incidents by sub-hazard type, total open claims, 
health and safety issues, fire safety training and complaints/compliments. 
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The Committee noted that HIQA had notified ULHG of its targeted monitoring programme against 
the National Standards for the prevention and control of healthcare-associated infections in acute 
healthcare services during the COVID-19 pandemic and that it intended to commence inspection 
shortly.   
  
The Chairperson undertook to prepare a brief report for the next Board meeting and include a 
recommendation to the Board to pursue the 16-bed modular building to address infrastructure and 
isolation facility issues, particularly in light of transfer of patients due to COVID-19 and the 
anticipated winter surge. 
 
  
17 November Meeting 
 
The Committee welcomed Ms. Michelle Burke, the newly appointed Director of Nursing to the 
meeting.   
 
Copies of reports from the following Committees were reviewed: 
 

1. Drugs & Therapeutics (D&T)  
2. Infection Prevention & Control (IPC)  
3. Nutrition & Hydration 
4. Radiation Safety 

 
KPI results, quality improvements in progress and PPPGs developed/updated were discussed.  The 
Committee noted that the D&T, Nutrition and Hydration and Radiation Safety Committees had no 
risks recorded on the Risk Register or identified for escalation to the Committee.  The top 3 IPC 
risks remained the same i.e. COVID-19, Hospital infrastructure and Isolation facilities.  The 
Committee noted that despite these risks, infection rates remained low.  The IPC Committee is 
recommending pursuit of the 16-bed modular building to address infrastructure and isolation facility 
issues.  The Committee supports this recommendation and noted that national approval for this 
development is still awaited. The Committee recommends the Board to continue to pursue the 16-
bed modular building in light of transfer of patients due to COVID-19 and the anticipated winter 
surge.  
 
The Committee reviewed a report from the Quality and Patient Safety Manager and Risk Manager 
and noted serious incidents reported, the top 5 incidents by sub-hazard type, total open claims, 
health and safety issues, training and complaints/compliments.  Of note, the hospital scored a B in 
the 2019 Claims Previously Reported as Incidents (CPRI) Report published by the State Claims 
Agency (October 2020).  This is an excellent result and shows a high commitment to reporting of 
incidents and learning from incidents.  There is evidence that high levels of incident reporting and 
a culture of learning as demonstrated by reviews/investigation of incidents, is associated with lower 
levels of litigation. 
 
The Committee noted that HIQA inspections in respect of Infection Prevention and Control and 
Radiation Safety were anticipated.  Work is on-going in preparation for these inspections. 
 
The Chairperson undertook to prepare a brief report for the next Board meeting and a report for the 
Annual General Meeting of the Board. 
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Recommendation to Board  
 
The Committee wants to particularly emphasise the urgency to the Board of pursuing the 16-bed 
modular building to address infrastructure and isolation facility issues.   
 
This has been highlighted at all four Committee meetings as a particular cause of concern. 
 
 

Performance Review and Evaluation  
 
The Risk, Quality & Safety Committee is satisfied that our activities have fulfilled the requirements 
set out in our Terms of Reference.  
 
I should like to thank the Administration of the hospital for their assistance and co-operation and 
the welcome support provided to the Committee by Ms. Patricia Keeshan. 
 
I am pleased to present this report to the Board’s Annual General Meeting for its information and 
consideration.  
 
 
 

 
Signed:    Audrey Fehily                              Date:  18 November 2020 
      Chairperson 
      St John’s Hospital QR&S Committee 
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SUB-COMMITTEE: NOMINATIONS AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
The Committee met on two occasions during the year.    
 
Attendance at Meetings 

 
For the period 01/01/2020 to 31/12/2020 
 
Audit Committee  Attendance 
 
Dr. Joseph Lee, Chairperson               2/2 
Dr. Catherine Casey, Member        2/2  
Mr. Tim Kennelly, Member                                            2/2 
    

 
The hospital’s Nominations and Governance Committee produced its Annual Report to the Board 
at its Annual General Meeting in November 2020.   It outlined the Committee’s activities and 
included a performance review and evaluation.   
 
The Board was satisfied with the activities of the Audit Committee and approved its Annual Report. 
 
A copy of the Audit Committee Annual Report is reproduced on the following pages.  
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NOMINATIONS & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  

2020 Annual Report to Board AGM 
 

Introduction 

In accordance with our Terms of Reference, I now submit the first Annual Report of St John’s 
Hospital Nominations and Governance Committee to St John’s Hospital Board for your attention. 
  

Activity 

The Nominations and Governance Committee meets twice annually. The first Committee meeting 
was held in March.  The second and final meeting for 2020 is scheduled for December. 
 
1 March Meeting 
 
The meeting was conducted via teleconference due to COVID-19 requirements around social 
distancing restrictions.  The Committee reviewed the Draft Governance Manual submitted by Ms 
Emer Martin, CEO, following its initial review by Board members at the January Board meeting.   
 
The Committee undertook to update the Manual based on feedback received. Issues that arose in 
respect of its content included the role of the Medical Board given the decline in the number of 
permanent consultant post holders in the Hospital. 
 
It was noted that the role of the Medical Board had been discussed in detail at its previous meeting 
in February and the following had been agreed: 
 
Purpose: 
The purpose of the Medical Board is to act as an advisory Board to the Hospital Board in relation 
to medical issues at the Hospital. The Medical Board describes a forum for discussion amongst 
consultants working in the Hospital. It shall appoint a Chairperson and a Secretary. All issues of 
concern to medical staff at the Hospital, which properly come before the Medical Board, will be 
discussed. If necessary, the Medical Board will decide to make recommendations on issues of 
concern to the Hospital Board. The Medical Board shall report formally to the Hospital Board on 
its proceedings after each meeting on all appropriate issues. 
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At all times, the Medical Board will strive to ensure that any recommendations made by it will 
improve the quality of care and service available to patients who attend the Hospital. 
  
In carrying out its work, the Medical Board will have regard to the following values: 

• Patients’ welfare is the foremost consideration 
• Members of the Board will practice in accordance with the highest standards set out for their 

specialisms. 
• Ethics principles will inform all discussions and recommendations of the Board. 
• There is an ongoing commitment to research, education and training. 

  
Frequency: 
Twice a year and at such other times as the Secretariat deem necessary 
  
Membership: 
The Medical Board shall consist of consultant staff who hold a contract of employment with the 
hospital or provide services to the hospital.  
  
Dissolution: 
The Medical Board can only be dissolved by a decision of the Hospital Board. 
 
The Committee reviewed the remainder of the draft Governance Manual and agreed its content 
following a few minor amendments. It was agreed by the Committee that the Governance Manual 
would be forwarded to the Board with a recommendation that it be adopted by the Board.  
 
Recommendation to appoint new Board Member 
 
Following the resignation of Mr Tim Kennelly as Board member on 18th November 2019, the 
committee recommended Mr Conn Murray as his replacement. It was agreed this recommendation 
would be forwarded to the Board for their approval.  

Performance Review and Evaluation  

The Nominations and Governance Committee is satisfied that our activities have fulfilled the 
requirements set out in our Terms of Reference.  
 
I should like to thank the Administration of the hospital for their assistance and co-operation and 
the welcome support afforded to the Committee by Ms. Patricia Keeshan. 
 
I am pleased to present this report to the Board’s Annual General Meeting for its information and 
consideration.  
 
 

 
Signed:  Dr. Joe Lee                              Date:  19  November 2020 
    Chairman 
    St John’s Hospital Nominations and Governance Committee 
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SENIOR MEDICAL STAFF 
 
 
ANAESTHETISTS:   Joseph G. Lee, MB, MS, FFARCSI 
     Fasih Khan, MB, BS, FFARCSI  
     James Shannon, FCARCSI, FFPMRCA  
     *John Kennedy, MB, FFARCSI   
      
     
CONSULTANT IN     
EMERGENCY MEDICINE:  *Gareth Quin, MRCPI, FRCS(Ed), FFAEM  
 
GASTROENTEROLOGIST:  *Maeve Skelly, PhD, FRCPI 
  
GYNAECOLOGISTS:   Catherine M. Casey, MRCOG, MRCPI, Dip.PST, DCH 
   *Sucheta Johnson, MBBS, MRCOG, MRCPI, DGO 
    
PATHOLOGISTS:    Peter N. Faul, MB, MRCPI, FRCPath., FFPath.(RCPI)    
   *Maeve Leahy, MD, FRCP, FRCPath.  
   *Nuala O’Connell, MB, BCh, BAO, MSc, MRCPath.MD. 
   *Denis O’Keeffe, MB, MRCPath.  
   
PHYSICIANS:    Cornelius J. Cronin, MB, BCh., FRCPI (Jan - Feb) 
     Eithne M.T. Mulloy, FRCPI (Jan – Mar)  
     *Liam Casserly, MB, MRCPI 
   Heather Holloway, FRCPI  
   Jane English, FRCPI 
   Andrew Scott (July – Dec) 
    
SURGEONS:    Paul E. Burke, BSc, MD, FRCS, FRCSI  
     *Anne Merrigan, FRCSI 
                                                      *Professor Shona Tormey 

        
*  Denotes sessional commitments from Consultants holding their contracts with the HSE     

Mid-Western Regional Hospital/University of Limerick Hospital Group. 
 
 Many other Consultants are also now providing sessions in St. John’s Hospital as part of the on-

going reconfiguration of services in the region.  
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Drugs & Therapeutics   

             Committee   
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The Drugs & Therapeutics Committee is responsible for expert governance oversight on the use of 
medicines.  It is multidisciplinary in structure, involving representative staff in the medicines use 
process: Hospital Consultants (Medicine, Anaesthesiology & Microbiology), Nursing Staff at 
management and clinical grades; Risk Management; Hospital Administration and the Hospital 
Pharmacy at Chief Pharmacists and Clinical Pharmacists grades. It also includes the Chief 
Executive / Deputy and Risk Management, and a community pharmacist. It also functions as The 
Resuscitation Committee when the Health Promotion Officer attends.     
 
The focus of the Committee is on all aspects of medication governance.  It works to promote, 
support, monitor and make recommendations regarding the safe, effective and economic use of 
medicines in order to provide optimal care for patients.  The Drugs & Therapeutics Committee has 
oversight of the hospital’s Antimicrobial Stewardship and Medication Safety Programmes (see 
below).  Despite the disruption caused by the COVID 19 pandemic, the Committee’s role in 
medication governance continued through the collaborative work of members.  
 
Performance Highlights  
 

• Oversight of the Antimicrobial Stewardship and Medication Safety Programmes   
• Monitored the redesign, pilot and rollout of general medical drug kardex  
• Approved new  Chest Drain Observation Chart  
• Approved project for standardisation on malignant Hyperthermia in line with Group  
• Approved pilot of Protocol for the Administration of Paracetamol in the Injury unit  
• Enhancement of Medication reconciliation – approval of clinical pharmacist charting of 

unintended omitted medicines post admission  
• Approved Advanced Nurse Practitioner administration of intravenous  gastrointestinal 

biologics  
• Approved further developments of Hospital Formulary 

- Inclusion of COVID 19 HSE Interim National Guideline for treatment of hospitalised 
patients  

- Preferred inhalers in COPD   
- DKA & SGLT2 guidance 

 
Antimicrobial Stewardship Programme 

• Antimicrobial consumption decreased year on year up to 2020 and remains significantly 
below the hospital category median for general hospitals 

• Improvement to compliance with Meropenem policy with increased rate of discussion with 
Microbiologist/Infectious Diseases before initiation  

• Quarterly Antimicrobial Stewardship Rounds, where the Consultant Microbiologist and the 
Antimicrobial Pharmacist review all antibiotic prescriptions, is now embedded as part of 
practice 

• In light of Covid19, European Antibiotic Awareness Day was promoted over a four-week 
period, to clinical staff, by a weekly email and WhatsApp to NCHDs The themes chosen 
corresponded to those endorsed by AMRIC 

• Re-redesign of Vancomycin section of the new Drug Kardex that took account of learnings 
from Vancomycin prescribing and monitoring audit  

• Increased the awareness amongst doctors about importance of timely IV to oral switch and 
improved the rate of switching through ‘IV to Oral switch’ Audit undertaken by NCHD and 
Antimicrobial Pharmacist  



                St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

- 30 - 
 

• Implementation of Interim Guidance for the Use of Antiviral Therapy in the Clinical 
Management of Acute Respiratory Infection with SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) 

 

 Antimicrobial Stewardship Key Performance Indicators  Target 2019 2020 

 Compliance of choice of agent with antimicrobial guidelines  90% 90% 83% 

 Documentation of indication 90% 98% 100% 

 Documentation of duration 90% 57% 58% 

 Patient on IV therapy but eligible for PO switch <15% 10% 16% 

 Compliance with Meropenem Prescribing policy >75% 72% 71% 

 Surgical Prophylaxis Duration >90% 89%       80% 
 

• Antimicrobial Stewardship Programme Objectives 2021 
1. Fluoroquinolone prescribing audit and quality improvement project 
2.    Piperacillin-tazobactam audit and education programme 
3. Surgical prophylaxis audit and Quality Improvement Project  
4. Participation in Vancomycin calculator development for ULHG MicroGuide APP 
5. Promote HSELand AMRIC Antimicrobial Stewardship in Practice to HCPs 
 

Medication Safety Programme  

• Medication Safety Monday bite-size learnings delivered to Doctors, Nurses & Pharmacy, 
including COVID 19 specific learning, despite several long pauses during COVID 19 surges  

• Nurse medication safety education sessions delivered at induction   
• HSE ‘Know, check ask’ medicines awareness campaign promoted to surgical patients  
• Direct Oral Anticoagulants project: Optimisation of pharmacist-led clinic software 

completed & patient education standardised 
• Inclusion of St John’s Hospital in HSE Safermeds Medication Reconciliation Project 

following Drugs & Therapeutics Committee approval  
• Promoted and collated feedback that led to 2nd iteration of General Medical Drug Chart for 

enhanced safety   
• Ongoing education on General Medical Drug Chart to medical & nursing staff  
• Promotion of electronic Formulary to medical and nursing staff  
• Audit of Ferinject prescribing showed positive patient outcomes through  

clinical pharmacist prescriber support 
• Audit of pharmacist charting of unintentionally omitted pre-admission medications showed 

prescriber support & improved medication reconciliation rate by year end 
 

 MEDICATION SAFETY Key Performance Indicators  Target 2019 2020 

 Documentation of allergy status  100% 92% 96% 

 Allergy / anaphylaxis training (nurses, pharmacists & registrars)                       >90% 94% 93% 

Appropriate VTE Prophylaxis at admission >90% 75% 88% 

 Rate of Medication Reconciliation at admission   80%         - 70% 
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• Medication Safety Programme Objectives 2021 
1. Integrate medication safety topics into regular NCHD education sessions   
2. Repeat Safety Attitudes Questionnaire  
3. Perioperative Medication Safety 
4. Develop eLearning module for General Medical Drug Chart  
5. Re-embed regularity of Medication Safety Monday Education as COVID 19 pandemic 
 lessens           

 
Overall objectives 2021 
 

• Oversight and approval of the Antimicrobial Stewardship Programme and the Medication 
Safety Programme 

• Enhance membership to include Medical Registrar representation    
• Promote quality improvement projects including  

- Develop customised Infusion Chart  
- Re-design Surgical Drug Chart  

• Monitor medication incidents and improvements to medication safety including  
- Development of electronic medication incident reporting  

• Promote continued development of the hospital formulary 
• Promote drug-related clinical audit  

 
 
Conclusion 
During the first and second phases of the COVID 19 pandemic, the Drugs & Therapeutics 
Committee supported changes to enhance patient safety, treatment efficacy and monitoring, while 
continuing to advance the safe use of medicines in the hospital.    
 
Its long-established multidisciplinary and collaborative structure served the hospital well, despite 
the challenges. This is set to continue into 2021 and beyond.      
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Committee in St John’s hospital is supported by Senior Management, 
the UHGL Steering Committee and Healthy Ireland. 
 
St John’s Health & Wellbeing committee focus on specific achievable actions aimed at improving 
staff health and wellbeing and implementation of MECC (making every contact count) to speak 
with a unified voice for promoting healthy behaviours in patients.  
 

Performance Highlights 

• In February 2020 Mr John Lonergan visited St John’s and spoke with staff on ‘making the most 
of challenging times’.   

• Aerobics classes were organised in the Physiotherapy department and facilitated by a trained 
instructor. 

• Daily walks continued and on Valentine’s Day staff participated in ‘Love Life, Love walking’  
• Staff psychological supports were offered when the Covid-19 crisis hit in 2020 and trained 

counsellors were available for confidential phone counselling.   
• A ‘tobacco free campus’ audit and quality improvement plan was undertaken and a submission 

for bursary was made by the Health Promotion nurse and supported by the committee. 
• Funding received from Healthy Ireland of €22,000 for 2019 enabled the installation of doors 

leading from the staff canteen to the garden and the purchase of extra garden furniture.  The 
garden and outdoor eating facilities proved hugely successful and beneficial for staff.  

• Flowers were planted outdoors in the garden planters and were placed on the restaurant tables 
each week to add cheer to the staff restaurant. 

• National staff wellbeing day in May was marked by ‘goody’ bags for all staff and participation 
in online events.  

• Walktober was organised by the National Transport Authority and 8 teams from St Johns 
participated with St John’s taking one of the top prizes out of over 1000 teams nationwide.  

• Funding of €2,000 was approved from Health Ireland through UHGL steering committee and 
a decision was made to purchase artwork for the enjoyment of the staff and patients.  

• St John’s were recognised as an exemplary site for the Implementation of MECC, making every 
contact count.  This enables staff to make a brief intervention in promoting healthy behaviours.  

• MECC stickers were developed to allow staff to record an intervention made in the patient’s 
chart.  

• The Flu Vaccination Campaign achieved 68% vaccination rate for staff, this was an increase of 
27% on the previous year.   

 

Objectives 2021 

• Continue the roll out of MECC training to staff from all departments  
• Establish a Christmas Savings Club  
• Encourage more physical activity amongst staff  
• Provide a vending service for staff in the absence of a shop facilities 
• To support staff psychologically  
• Re-energise the book club 
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Conclusion 

St John’s Hospital Health & Wellbeing Committee is fortunate to have support from Senior 
Management, colleagues in Physiotherapy, Patient Services, Nursing, Health Promotion, 
Administration, Maintenance and Occupational Health along with Patient Representatives.    
 
The Committee makes a positive contribution to the hospital staff and will continue work to 
optimise and promote better health and wellbeing for its service users and staff.  
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 Infection Prevention &  

          Control Committee   
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INTRODUCTION 
 

The aim of the Infection Prevention & Control service during 2020 was to: 
• Contribute to a safe hospital environment and to do all possible to prevent healthcare 

associated infections 
• To supply an innovative and enthusiastic approach to the IPC learning needs of all members 

of staff in the hospital 
• Strive for excellence in infection control using evidence-based practice to achieve the best 

possible patient care 
• Liaise with all departments and staff supporting and providing advice on all IPC issues  
• Assist in the creation of an environment where patients feel safe and comfortable by 

providing information and education to enhance patient care and help alleviate any anxiety 
surrounding multi drug resistance 

• Endeavour to implement the HIQA national standards for the prevention and control of HCAI 
2017  

 
Performance Highlights  

The IPCC held quarterly meeting in 2020 
Monthly and quarterly data was submitted to the Business Information Unit (BIU) 

Surveillance 
Clostridioides difficile 2020 

C = Community STJ = St Johns acquired 0 = Other Healthcare facility 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 

1 
STJ 

0 1 
STJ 

1 0 0 3 
STJ 

1 
C 

0 0 0 1 
C 

Carbapenemase Producing Enterobacterales (CPE) 
Positive Patients 2020 

K-Known on admission   T.A. Transfer/admission screen   C-Contact  
Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 

1 
K 

0 3 
K 

0 2 
T.A 
K 

1 
C 

1 
T. A 

1 
K 

1 
T. A 

4 
2K 
1C 
1 
T.A. 

2 
1K 
1 
T.A. 

2 
1K 

1 T.A. 

191 159 173 85 156 123 136 140 161 136 125 139 
Staphylococcus aureus Bacteraemia 2020 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

EARS Net Pathogens Bacteraemia 2020 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 
Ecoli 

0 0 0 0 0 

VRE 2020 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 

0 0 0 0 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 
ESBL 2020 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

• The following Training programmes were established and delivered across all disciplines by the 
Infection Prevention & Control Nurse: 

1. COVID-19 Information & Guidance 
2. Donning/Doffing of Personal Protective Equipment  
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3. A fit checking programme for FFP 2 masks 
4. Procedure for taking a nasopharyngeal swab and appropriate safe packaging/labelling to the 

Laboratory at UHL  
 

Quality Improvements: 
• Introduced Care Pathway for Covid-19 patients 
• Advised Covid pathways for the Hospital  
• Introduced IPC Patient Placement Policy  
• Covid Working Group Deputy Chair 
 
Policy Procedure and Guidelines: 
The following documents were reviewed and updated during 2020: 

 
Education and Training: 
• Donn Doffing training and FIT mask fitting 
• IPC education on the Wound Care and IV study days in the hospital 
• Education for Induction programmes 
• Education and training in Standard Precautions and Hand Hygiene 
 
Audits 

Audits  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Hand Hygiene Annual   √  √ 
Hand Hygiene Local √ √ √  
Peripheral Line Care Bundle √ √ √ √ 
Admission Screening  √  √ 
Clinical Room √  √  
Sluice  √  √  
Isolation Rooms √ √ √ √ 
Linen  √  √ 
Sharps  √  √ 
Patient Care Equipment/Environment √  √  

 
 

Hand Hygiene 
Hand hygiene is one of the most effective actions we can all take to reduce the spread of pathogens and 
prevent infections, including the COVID-19 virus. National Hand Hygiene audits are conducted twice per 
year. Our hand hygiene audit results demonstrate that we met the national standard for hand hygiene 
practice on 6/8 occasions since 2017.  
A robust action plan including regular staff surveillance and training is in place to ensure we continue to 
achieve the national standard and maintain a safe standard of care for our patients. Our results in the table 
below also highlight that we exceeded the national standard for hand hygiene practice on four occasions. 
 
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
Hand Hygiene •     
Standard Precautions •     
Clostridium difficile  •    
Personal Protective Equipment •     
Management of clinical spillages    •  
Decontamination prior to inspection service or repair    •  
Sharps Management   •   
Pulmonary Tuberculosis •     
Norovirus  •    
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Period St John’s Hospital National Standard HSE Average 
2020 Period 2 93.3% 90% 90.5 
2020 Period 1             90% 90% 92.2 
2019 Period 2 90.2% 90% 90.9 
2019 Period 1 85.7% 90% 91.8 
2018 Period 2             90% 90% 92.3 
2018 Period 1 90.2% 90% 92.2 
2017 Period 2 90.3% 90% 93.1 
2017 Period 1 86.8% 90% 90.5 

 
 
Objectives 2021 
• Continue a high level of vigilance and training in hand hygiene. 
• To consistently achieve the national standard for hand hygiene practice 
• Explore the introduction of Macerators for use within the hospital 
• Conduct a targeted surveillance project on hospital acquired pneumonia 
• Explore the sourcing of units to hold PPE outside isolation rooms – possibly through the Rapid 

Innovation Unit (RIU) 
 
Conclusion 
To maintain the high standard of infection prevention and control that is associated with St John’s 
Hospital by continuous education, training and auditing of practice in collaboration with multi-
disciplinary teams. 
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Nutrition & Hydration  

            Committee   
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The Implementation of the Policy on Food, Nutrition and Hydration Policy for Adult Patients in 
Acute Hospitals continued throughout 2020.  While most of the Policy requirements have been 
implemented there remains a number of gaps with a dedicated timeline for achieving the policy 
objectives.  This Policy implementation plan cover three years.  In early 2020, the Catering Manager 
post became vacant and a new Catering Manager Mr Saji Pulimalayil was appointed and took up 
post in May 2020.  The Director of Nursing and Committee Chair retired in August 2020 and the 
Chair of St John’s Nutrition and Hydration Committee passed to Elma Herbert, former Catering 
Officer to continue the excellent work of the committee.  
 
Highlights 
• In January 2020, two final year students of dietetics from UHL joined St Johns Catering Staff 

for a two-week placement.  The students were tasked with analysis of the standard, texture 
modified and renal menus.  They used observation, weighing and Nutritics software analysis 
to conduct their work.  The results of this project were shared with the committee and all 
stakeholder and a QIP was developed to address a deficit in dairy identified by their work.  

• A Speech and Language Therapist (SLT) Lorna Davey-Fitzgerald was welcomed to St John’s.  
Lorna is now working permanently on site and replaces previous sessional support.  Lorna is a 
member of the Nutrition and Hydration Committee.  

• Analysis of menu’s continued throughout the year and this was supported and overseen by 
senior Dietician Ms Aisling Collins and Catering staff using Nutritics software.  

• The introduction of an ‘All Day’ menu, which was introduced to provide a substantial meal for 
patients who missed a meal or were admitted outside of meal times.  

• 3 Catering Staff were assigned to the Covid-19 floor in the hospital and there was great 
collaboration between Catering, Nursing, HCA’s, Dietician and SLT in caring for the 
nutritional requirements of all patients during difficult times.  

• Fruit and water were provided to the staff working on the Covid floor daily and this helped to 
relieve the effects of wearing PPE and promoted wellbeing.  

• No national patient experience survey was conducted in 2020, however 90% of patients who 
completed the ‘Tell Us What You Think’ survey rated the food as good or very good.  

• Risks identified and managed by the committee are communicated to the Board Risk Quality 
& Safety on a quarterly basis.  

• Dietetic services continue within the hospital and are based on referrals from medical 
professionals.  St John’s senior dietician facilitates training with Nursing, HCA and Catering 
Staff.  In 2020 Masters of Dietetics students from UL completed their clinical placement in St 
Johns under the supervision of Ms Aisling Collins, Senior Dietician.  

 
Objectives 2021 
• Develop a policy for fasting for investigations and tests  
• Introduction of new menus for desserts  
• Introduction of a milk pudding round to accompany fresh fruit round  
• Expand the audit team and audit remit from Nutrition & Hydration  
• Introduce a food waste management system  
• Develop menu hubs on wards where patients can view their menu options and allergens. 
 
Conclusion 
St John’s Hospital has a proud tradition of delivering high quality food to patients and staff.  2020 
brought new challenges to patients and staff due to Covid-19.  The Catering, Nursing, Dietetics, 
SLT working together contributed to positive patient experiences in relation to Nutrition & 
Hydration.  
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The Radiation Safety Committee continued its work in 2020 to ensure that the use of radiation in 
the hospital is conducted within the framework of a Licensing/Authorisation System operated by 
the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)and the legal and administrative requirements of the 
Department of Health and the Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). The Committee’s 
scope includes all of the regulated activities involving ionising radiation that occur in St. John’s 
Hospital. 
 
 
Highlights 2020 
 
The Radiation Safety Committee was very involved in 2020 in over-seeing the installation of new 
X-Ray equipment. The HSE funded replacement of the equipment in the Urgent Care Centre and 
the main X-Ray room and these were replaced in late 2019 and early 2020, The JP McManus 
Foundation funded the purchase of a replacement CT Scanner and this project was completed in 
August 2020. Many thanks are due to our Radiation Protection Advisor, the Medical Physics staff 
of St. James’s Hospital, the suppliers and our own Maintenance Manager for the smooth installation 
of the Scanner. A special thanks also to Ennis General Hospital who assisted with CT scans while 
St. John’s Hospital was without a scanner. It was a very positive development to be in a position to 
remove the CT Scanner from the hospital’s Risk Register in 2020 with the installation of the new 
Scanner. The replacement of the 16 slice Scanner installed in 2009 with a new 160 slice Scanner 
has been a great addition to the Radiology Department. 
 
New Diagnostic Reference Levels (DRLs) have been established for many x-ray procedures and 
the exposure levels have greatly decreased due to the new equipment and this is a very welcome 
development. A completed DRL Survey was submitted to HIQA in December 2020.  
 
Radiation safety badges are checked monthly and monthly quality assurance testing is performed 
by the Radiology Dept. staff and checked at the Clinical Audit meetings which are held before the 
Radiation Safety Committee meetings. Annual Quality Assurance testing was carried out on the 
LIU Equipment, the C-arm and the Mobile X-Ray machine by the Dept. of Medical Physics in St. 
James’s Hospital in 2020 and signed off by the Radiation Protection Advisor. QA was not required 
on the main X-Ray room equipment or the CT Scanner in 2020 as both these items were only 
commissioned this year. 
 
Policies, Procedures, Protocols and Guidelines are continually updated and this was particularly 
relevant in 2020 due to the installation and commissioning of the new equipment which led to the 
development of new Procedures and Protocols and Procedures for the operation and QA and QC 
testing of this equipment. Policies on Optimisation and Justification of x-rays, on Carers and 
Comforters present during Radiological Examinations, Managing Female Patients of Childbearing 
Age Undergoing Examination involving Ionising Radiation, etc. were also developed or updated in 
2020. 
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Catering 

Introduction 
 
The aim of the Catering Department in St John’s Hospital is to provide a nutritious and varied menu 
to all our customers with the highest standard of food safety and food quality.  St John’s Hospital 
recognises its responsibilities under the EU directives and national legalisation pertaining to food 
provision. To meet these legislative requirements, we have implemented a food management system 
incorporating HACCP as an integral part of the system. 
 
Highlights 2020 
• Analysis of Menus in line with the National Food, Nutrition and Hydration Policy (2018), 

supported by the senior Dietician and Speech and Language Therapist.  All Day Menu 
introduced to provide a suitable meal for patients who miss a meal or are admitted outside of 
mealtimes 

• Food bags kept on each ward for late-night admissions 
• Purchased fridges for the provision of chilled water at ward level    
• New Dessert Menu introduced for patients  
• Audit of evening snack trolley and fruit round conducted. Added Rice pudding, Semolina 

pudding for the Fruit round at 2.15 pm and Puree fruit, and selection of Mousses for evening 
trolley.  

• Kitchen CCP’S and HACCP flow chart updated. Ward order sheets changed according to the 
new demand and the communication to the kitchen made easy. 

• Chefs trained in the International Dysphagia Diet Standardisation Initiative (IDDSI) IDDSI 
framework for the management of patients with dysphasia. 

• Computer installed in main kitchen to facilitate on-line staff training 
•  
• Covid-19 initiative included: 

o 3 Catering Staff were assigned to the Covid-19 floor in the hospital 
o Fruit and water provided daily to staff working on the COVID floor to relieve the effects 

of wearing PPE and to promote wellbeing. 
o Safety measures implemented in the Staff Restaurant included divider screens on tables, 

individual portion sachets and milk pods, hand sanitisers and wipes. 
 
Objectives 2021 
• Introduce menu hubs at ward level to allow patients view their menu options and allergens 
• Introduce a food waste management system  
• On-going training for catering staff in special diets  
• Develop a 3-week balanced cyclic menu for therapeutic diet and special needs with adequate 

calorie content 
• Introduce new Menus in staff Restaurant with allergens and calorie displayed 
 
Conclusion 
St John’s Hospital has a proud tradition of delivering high-quality food to patients and staff.  2020 
brought new challenges to patients and staff due to Covid-19.  The Catering, Nursing, Dietetics, 
Speech and Language Therapist worked together to contribute to a positive patient experience. 
 
In 2021, we will work to ensure that our current service levels and high standards are maintained, 
to maintain staff training, and to promote the continual personal and professional development of 
all the Catering staff.   
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Dietetics 

Introduction 
 

The Senior Dietitian provides dietetic services to all inpatients referred via the medical teams.  All 
inpatients have a comprehensive food, nutrition and hydration needs assessment completed on 
admission.  Based on the findings, appropriate referrals completed by the patients’ medical team 
are sent and triaged by the dietitian. A patient centred care plan is developed, initiated and reviewed 
by the dietitian, and communicated to all relevant medical, nursing and catering staff. 
 
As a key member of the Food, Nutrition and Hydration Committee the Senior Dietitian attends 
quarterly meetings and is involved in objectives and initiatives to support and progress the 
implementation of the National Food, Nutrition and Hydration (FNH) Policy (2018) and the 
National Clinical Guideline regarding Oral Nutritional Dupplementation (2020).  The Senior 
Dietitian also facilitates nutrition education and training of nurses, healthcare assistants, medical 
and catering staff as part of planned induction programmes. 
 
Highlights 2020 
• Continued to provide a comprehensive dietetic inpatient service in spite of negative impact of 

Covid 19 for the hospital. Limited time,(face to face) assessments were completed- in line with 
new Covid -19 policies /procedures especially in outbreak situations. Written nutrition care 
plans supported the dietetics recommendations provided.  

• Progressed with quality initiatives identified in the FNH Policy in co-operation and 
collaboration with other keys stakeholders 

• Guidelines of PN and RFS were updated in 2020 
• Quantitative Food record charts were introduced as suggested in national FNH policy 
• Nursing care plan/pathway documentation edited to reflect the National FNH policy and 

clinical guideline on ONS (2020 in collaboration with Nurse Best Practise Group of the hospital  
• Audits were completed on compliance with Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUDT) 

and the International Dysphagia Diet Standardisation Initiative (IDDSI) modified menu in co-
operation with other FNH members 

• Supported and provided recommendations to catering to enhance menu options in hospital 
• Provided and facilitated the clinical placement of 4 MSc Masters dietetic students from UL.  

This was the first year of undertaking this and it provided great learning and reflection 
 
Objectives 2021 
• Continue to provide a comprehensive service to all referred inpatients 
• Ensure nutrition care pathways and care plans are utilised correctly by appropriate staff by 

providing education and training to medical, nursing, healthcare assistants and catering staff. 
• Recommend further nutritional analysis of menu cycles changes/choices  
• Continue to facilitate clinical placements of Masters Dietetic students from UL 
• Continue to work within the mutlidisplinary teams of the hospital in line with Nutrition Best 

Practise Guidelines 
• Continue to work with hospital management to develop the dietetic service as new 

hubs/services are integrated into the hospital 
• Roll out of the newly edited nutrition/MUST sections of nursing assessment care/pathway 

documents, with plans for regular/refresher training of nursing staff. 
 

Conclusion 
2020 was a difficult year but one that saw us supporting each other. It is my hope that we continue 
to support our hospital ethos. 
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Human Resources 

Introduction 
 
The Human Resources & Occupational Health (HROH) Department is responsible for human 
resources planning, Occupational Health, strategy development, policy development and 
implementation, legislation compliance, industrial/employee relations, medical manpower 
management, recruitment and selection, superannuation administration as well as payroll and 
occupational health administration. 
   
In 2020 we were due to set out our People Strategy which commenced with the restructure of our 
HR Department in September to “HR and Organisational Development”. 
Our new focus on Organisational Development served as a commitment to our staff to develop a 
strategic framework for supporting our people and to make our Hospital a better place to work with 
a stronger emphasis on learning and development for all. Like so many, we could not have imagined 
as 2020 began the phenomenal change that was on its way. 
 
The working environment was a very different place by the end of 2020 compared to how the year 
began. Since learning to operate in a Covid world, we now have a better understanding of what we 
are capable of achieving when we are at our best and what more we need to do to better support our 
people who are our most valuable asset. 
 
To keep providing the outstanding care for patients that we witnessed throughout 2020, we 
recognise the need now, more than ever, to look after ourselves and each other throughout these 
difficult times and the importance of engaging further with our staff. 
 
Covid currently dominates our world and we recognise that it has created a context of heightened 
anxiety, fatigue and stress for our people and the population we serve. However, our people continue 
to rise to the challenge and there is much to celebrate. The care provided by our staff continued to 
generate a high number of compliments from our patients and their families. •  
 
Our Covid story featured on RTE News, the national and local press and on our social media sites. 
In collaboration with University of Limerick Hospitals Group, 2020 witnessed the fast track Critical 
Care training being provided to many of our nurses, mostly from the Theatre department. This was 
an incredible achievement as it enabled the Critical Care Department in UHL to surge its activity 
levels with the assistance of our staff , a direct response to the rising numbers of ICU admissions 
due to Covid infections. 
 
Service Highlights 
 

• We developed stronger partnership working across systems and other hospital sites  
• We embedded new models of working, roles, patterns, and settings. 
• We set up Virtual clinics 
• We developed a Covid leadership committee 
• We saw the reduction of agency spend in nursing in spite of the number of nursing staff on 

Covid absence throughout the year. 
• In 2020 the Hospital had a staff turnover of 128 with 64 starters and 64 leavers.    
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Service Objectives 
 
We will continue to maintain focus on the following: 

• a rise in agency medical staff expenditure due to Covid absences and the high number of 
temporary medical posts. We continued our work to progress our permanent Consultant 
appointments and the filling of NCHD vacancies  

• Continue to provide an efficient and fit for purpose HR and Organisational Development 
service to the Hospital 

• Develop Performance Achievement plans in collaboration with our staff 
• Continue to support high morale among employees 
• Support the continued drive for team spirit, teamwork and inter-team collaboration 
• Recruitment, selection and placement of personnel  
• Manage all remuneration and pension properly 
• Continue to provide an effective and efficient Occupational Health Function 
• Further develop our in-house training facilities and programmes for staff  

 
 
Conclusion 
The department will continue to provide a proactive and responsive service to staff.  
 
The department will develop a strategic plan to support recruitment and retention of staff 
 
 The department will develop a strategic plan to support the learning and development of all staff. 
 
The department will support the Hospital in meeting its operational business plans alongside 
emerging and ongoing pandemic related challenges.  
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Information Systems 

Introduction  
As an intensive consumer and generator of electronic information, the Hospital is highly reliant on 
a wide-range of information systems, information technology and communications technology in 
delivering both its healthcare service delivery objectives and in fulfilling its business administration 
obligations.  
 
The Information Systems (ICT) department provides, maintains and supports the Hospital’s 
numerous sophisticated information, communication technology and audio-visual facilities. 
 
The department is also responsible for the security of the Hospital’s systems and the data contained 
within them. The Hospital’s has robust security measures to ensure constant confidentiality, 
integrity and availability of the Hospital’s information and communications systems. 
 
The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic drove a sudden and drastic change in the way Hospital 
employees accessed data and communicated with each other.  
 
The requirement for home working necessitated the expansion of the Hospital’s existing and 
established remote access facilities which required some hardware upgrades to the back-office 
infrastructure and additional licensing. Home working services were consumed in a secure way 
using a variety of computer devices including employees’ personal devices and twenty-five new 
laptops procured specifically for remote working.  
 
On the healthcare service delivery side, the department implemented the AttendAnywhere platform 
to enable remote Patient/Clinician consultations.  
 
The Hospital adopted the Zoom platform for conducting remote meetings and the department 
implemented the necessary technologies to enable the use of Zoom.  
 
Additional remote access and video conferencing traffic necessitated an upgrade of the Hospital’s 
Internet connection. 
 
COVID-19 aside, the department continued to deliver its planned programme of works which 
included: - 

1. The continued upgrade of client computer operating systems from Windows 7 to 
Windows 10. By year end 75% of the client computer estate was running Windows 10. 
This was achieved through a combination of hardware upgrades and whole computer 
replacement which furthered the department’s endeavours to have no computer in 
service which is older than five-years.  

2. The upgrade of the Hospital’s Intranet site to Microsoft SharePoint 2019 was completed. 
This work included the associated upgrades to the document scanning systems used by 
the original SharePoint site. 

3. The replacement of the Hospital’s firewall which is a key component of the Hospital’s 
network perimeter defences. 

4. The carrying-out of numerous routine preventative maintenance and security review and 
upgrade tasks. 

 
The provision of responsive end-user technical support accounts form a significant part of the 
department’s day-to-day activities with c.800 support issues being resolved each month.   
  



Annual Report 2020 
 

- 49 - 
 

Objectives 2021 

The Hospital’s continued and ongoing reinvestment in its significant IT and communications 
infrastructure is vital for the organisation to protect its current investment and for the department to 
provide a modern and secure service which can support national IT initiatives as well as other 
emerging technologies. 
 
The following items are under consideration for the department’s 2021 program of works. 

1. Completion of the Windows 10 upgrades. 
2. Replace 35 client computers. 
3. Migrate from NHN to the Government Network and advocate for second connection for 

failover purposes. 
4. Implement a secondary firewall with active-failover. 
5. Commence replacement of end-of-life back office infrastructure. 
6. Procure and implement HR system. 
7. Procure and implement Financial Management System. 
8. Procure and implement Occupational Health System. 
9. Subject to availability: Implement NIMIS 2. 
10. Facilitate switchover the HSE’s upgraded iPM infrastructure. 

 
Conclusion 
The department will continue to provide a proactive and responsive service.  
 
The department will respond to the Hospital’s anticipated strategic plan by endeavouring to provide 
systems and infrastructure that will support the Hospital in the delivery of its strategic objectives. 
 
The department stands ready to adapt its services to facilitate the Hospital in meeting both on-going 
and emerging pandemic related challenges.  
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Nursing 

Introduction 
 
2020 was a year like no other with the Covid 19 Pandemic reaching Ireland in spring. Nurses in St 
John’s Hospital showed their resilience, adaptability and strength of character in such a challenging 
time in healthcare. Ways of working were challenged daily and new patient pathways were 
developed to ensure patient safety at all times.  
 
The Nursing Department is responsible for providing high quality evidence-based nursing care to 
all patients throughout the hospital. To maintain these high standards, all new nurses and healthcare 
assistants undergo a period of induction followed by a period of supernumerary status, where they 
are supported and mentored in their clinical areas. Regular audit of nursing practice is carried out 
to ensure continuous delivery of high quality, evidence-based care. A training needs analysis is 
undertaken each year to enable adequate planning and implementation of learning and development 
programmes for staff. This supports staff objectives to deliver the most up to date, relevant, patient-
centred care to all patients while also encouraging the professional development of staff. 
 
Nurse Education 
The Hospital has a long tradition of being a student teaching hospital. Students are supported by the 
Clinical Placement Co-ordinator (CPC) with many of our nurses having undergone teaching and 
assessment training provided by the CPC. The Clinical Skills Facilitator has a key role to play in 
working alongside newly qualified and junior staff nurses to address any learning or practice gaps.    
 
We have a strong collaborative relationship with the Faculty of Health Sciences and the Kemmy 
Business School at the University of Limerick for degree and MSc programmes of study. 
Education needs of qualified nursing staff are also provided by partners such as the Centre for 
Nursing and Midwifery Education (CNME) and the Office of Nursing and Midwifery Strategic 
Development (ONMSD), both HSE funded education organisations.  The regulatory body for 
nursing is the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Ireland. St Johns’ had its last inspection from NMBI 
in 2019 and the environment was recognised as conducive to the learning and training of student 
nurses. 
 
Framework for Quality Care 
 
The Hospital continued to work towards delivering key national healthcare targets relating to 
nursing quality care. The quality of nursing care is monitored through nursing metrics and 
environmental hygiene audit processes. 
This framework is fully embedded across all clinical wards and departments within the Hospital. 
It incorporates process and outcome metrics across a range of domains relating to tissue viability, 
nutrition, infection control, and falls 
 
Highlights 2020 
          

• Led by the Director of Nursing who is also Hospital Lead for Infection, Prevention and 
Control, a multidisciplinary Covid Working Group was formed and convened weekly to 
discuss and implement the National Public Health Emergency Team (NPHET) and 
Department of Health guidelines in relation to the pandemic.  Containing the spread of 
infection and supporting patients and staff in the day to day operational management of the 
hospital were key functions of the Covid working group.  
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• 2020 proved challenging for our Theatre Nurses. In line with a national directive, all elective 
surgery was suspended on two occasions for a period of several weeks owing to a rise in 
medical patient admissions and Covid 19 outbreaks.  New Covid care pathways were 
developed that ensured safe admission of patients to all care areas within the hospital.   

 
• The temporary suspension of theatre activity resulted in Theatre Nurses redeploying to 

University Hospital Limerick to assist in the Critical Care Unit from April to June 2020, 
allowing the development of new skills and working relationships.  
 

• A new post was developed in 2020 which saw the appointment of an Assistant Director of 
Nursing with responsibility for Perioperative services with a particular focus on improving 
care pathways and patient experience for surgical patients and to improve capacity and 
efficiency within the service.   

 
• St John’s Hospital has two qualified Advanced Nurse Practitioners in Emergency Care and 

a third ANP soon to qualify, working towards reaching its target of becoming the first 
ANP- led Injury Unit in Ireland. 

 
 
Objectives 2021 

1. Support staff learning and development through a structured education plan for all grades 
of nursing staff, incorporating our local education providers in the assessment of learning 
and educational needs. 

2. Invest in leadership development and teamwork to help train our future nurse leaders and 
managers 

3. Enhance recruitment and retention initiatives to further strengthen nurse staffing levels and 
skill mix 

4. Continue to support nurse specialist and advanced nurse practitioner roles to enhance 
patient care and experience at St John’s Hospital 

5. Continue to work collaboratively with other departments and specialities to enhance 
service provision to patients 

6. Continue to promote the importance of Infection, Prevention and Control measures in 
helping to keep patients and staff safe. 

7. Further develop professional networking relationships for all grades of nursing staff with 
University of Limerick Hospital Group  

8. To utilise patient experience and feedback to inform how we deliver care 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Nursing Department will continue to provide a caring and compassionate service to all patients, 
supported by evidence based practice and delivered by staff who are highly motivated to provide 
the very best standards of patient care.  
 
The Nursing Department will support the Hospital in the delivery of its strategic objectives. 
 
We will engage with our patients and their families to ensure that the care we provide is patient 
centred and delivered to evidence based standards. 
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Patient Services 

Introduction 

The Patient Services Department provides administrative, clerical and porter support to all clinical 
and support departments within the following areas, In-Patient/Day Case services, Endoscopy 
services, Local Injury Unit, Medical Assessment Unit, Outpatient services, Physiotherapy, 
Pharmacy, Radiology, Cardiac Assessment Unit, Pre-Assessment Admission and Clinical Nurse 
Specialists.  
 
The Patient Services Manager is backed by a team of highly qualified and dedicated clerical and 
porter staff.  Patient Services Manager has overall responsibility for the administrative day-to-day 
management of operational services affecting patients within the hospital.  We strive to ensure an 
efficient delivery of services is provided to all patients attending the hospital.  
 
The Covid-19 pandemic had a significant impact on activity levels in 2020. Our objective in 2021 
is to support increased activity in scheduled care as we recover from the effects of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  
 
Highlights 2020 
• Despite the Covid-19 challenges, St.  John’s Hospital Endoscopy unit emerged from the Covid- 

19 closures with increased activity in an effort to clear backlog 
• 2020 was the year that seen the introduction of virtual clinics.  The introduction of virtual clinics 

was propelled by the effects of Covid 19. The use of virtual clinics provided St John’s Hospital 
with an opportunity to broaden its services beyond the normal practices in achieving complex 
patient care goals.  Patients save time and money travelling to hospital by remaining in the 
comfort of their own home.  However, further work must be carried out to ensure that virtual 
clinics remain sustainable for the future of virtual health.  

• St John’s Hospital fully implemented the e-discharge on the wards in 2020 
• Patient Services Manager involved in the national roll out of the endoscopy waiting list 

management programme which will launch on HSE land.  This training will benefit those 
involved in endoscopy waiting list management.  

• Covid 19 coincidently brought about many service improvements.  These improvements are as 
follows:  
 Long awaited pre-assessment screening of endoscopy patients was implemented.  The 

main reason for implementing endoscopy pre-assessment was to screen patients prior to 
their appointment for Covid-19 but the benefits to this have been twofold.  It has reduced 
DNA rates and wastage of slots as those deemed unsuitable are captured in advance of 
their appointment as opposed to the day of the appointment 

 Waiting areas have seen a massive reduction in foot fall as a result of the appointment 
system changing.  Appointment letters indicate that patients should only arrive at their 
appointment times  

 
Objectives 2021 
• Introduction of Health mail.  Health mail is a secure clinical email service that will allow St 

John’s Hospital to send and receive clinical patient information in a secure manner.  This will 
contribute to the efficiency of communication between St John’s Hospital and community care.  

• Continue to increase endoscopy activity for 2021 in conjunction with nursing management  
• Review the outpatients schedule to ensure all capacity is availed of 
• Ongoing review of activity numbers in all scheduled care environments to keep in line with 

changing circumstances as a result of Covid-19  
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• Promote virtual clinics to ensure virtual health is maintained 
• Continue to work with the National Treatment Purchase Fund (NTPF)  to reduce patient waiting 

times 
• There is opportunity for St John’s Hospital to receive NTPF initiatives for insourcing.  These 

opportunities exist within the pain services and outpatient gynaecology  
• Review same day laparoscopic cholecystectomy metrics/criteria to improve results. 

Involvement of anaesthetics and pre-op assessment required 
• Review administrative processes in the Medical Assessment Unit to improve efficiency  
• Review administrative processes in the Pre-Assessment Unit to improve efficiency  
• Due to the complex nature of urology, urology administrative support will be redesigned for St 

John’s Hospital.  One clerical person will be assigned to support all urology services within St 
John’s Hospital.  This is to ensure consistency of work processes pertaining to the urology 
services 

• Risk contingency planning will be used to support the minimisation of hospital waiting time.  
This will be achieved by firstly identifying the risk areas and secondly working collaboratively 
with NTPF for solutions to potentially outsource patients.  

 
 
Conclusion 
Staff morale and efficient administrative processes to support patient care is the priority within 
Patient Services.  The Patient Services team have shown resilience and innovation through the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The response to the Covid-19 pandemic has seen significant changes in how 
services are delivered.  These changes have in many ways incorporated a fundamental redesign in 
how we deliver services with profound implications for both staff and patients.  We continue to 
learn and improve on how services can be delivered.  It has become apparent throughout this crisis 
how valuable appointments are and how we must ensure that DNA’s and wastage of slots are 
reduced.   
 
It is evident from the current waiting statistics that Covid-19 has had a significant impact on 
scheduled care waiting lists. As we emerge from the Covid-19 crisis, the priority within the Patient 
Services team will be to ensure timely access is provided to patients.  This can be achieved by 
ensuring efficient usage of internal capacity and by working collaboratively with the NTPF team.  
 
The demand for Endoscopy continues to increase at group level. The objective for 2021 is to 
increase the level of endoscopy activity within St John’s Hospital, making it a priority to review our 
in house unused capacity prior to considering outsourcing for our endoscopy patients.  
 
It is our aim to continue working with the National Treatment Purchase Fund and to identify unused 
capacity within our own group.  
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Pathology 

Introduction 

St. John’s Hospital Laboratory is part of the UL Hospital Laboratory Group. 
 
It provides a Clinical Biochemistry and Haematology service that strives to meet the needs and 
expectations of the service users, while contributing to the clinical management of patients.  
 
Test requests that fall outside the internal test repertoire are referred to the Laboratories at UHL 
/referred onwards from UHL to designated referral Laboratories. 
 

Performance Highlights 

KPI:  Result TAT (turnaround time); Target > 90% within 120 mins 

Year Biochemistry Haematology Coagulation 

2020 91% 95% 97% 
 

Covid–19 Service Impact 
Communicated effectively and liaised closely with Patient Services, Nursing & Clinical staff in the 
Hospital regarding covid -19 testing requirements/protocols. 
 
CPD 
• Attendance at FRCPath tutorials organised by the Association of Clinical Biochemists in 

Ireland (ACBI) – M. Ryan 
• Online lectures provided for the MSc. in Clinical and Diagnostic Biochemistry (UCD) – M. 

Ryan 
• ACBI Lectures Series; Laboratory Testing for Natriuretic Peptides (NPs) [BNP / NT-proBNP]; 

Online presentation (Nov 11th 2020) – M. Ryan 
• Participation in the Academy of Clinical Science and Laboratory Medicine (ACSLM) CPD 

scheme – C. McLoughlin. 
 
Objectives 2021 
Validation and ‘go live’ with new Biochemistry/Haematology Equipment and Laboratory 
Information Management System (LIMS) in St. John’s Laboratory.  
Further streamlining of the Laboratory service as part of the standardisation of processes across the 
UL Hospital Laboratory Group. 
 
Conclusion 
Validation of equipment as part of the Blood Sciences project commenced in the last quarter of 
2020.  ‘Go live’ for this equipment and changeover to a new Laboratory Information Management 
system (LIMS) is planned for mid-2021. 
 
Staffing deficits and the requirement to employ Agency Medical Scientists has impacted on the 
implementation of service developments/quality initiatives in 2020 and continues into 2021. 
 
Despite the staff deficits, continuous professional development has been actively encouraged. 
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Pharmacy 

Introduction 
 

The use of medicines is the most common intervention in healthcare.  The Pharmacy Team therefore 
plays a role every day in enhancing the care of almost every single patient attending St John’s 
Hospital; inpatient, outpatients and day case patients.   Pharmacists, pharmacy technicians and 
support personnel deliver the service.  As well as the clinical aspect of Pharmacy, the Hospital 
Pharmacy manages the supply chain for medicines for the hospital.  The COVID 19 pandemic meant 
that a review of every aspect of the pharmacy service in minute detail was undertaken and a COVID 
19 contingency plan developed with our established goals in mind: promotion of the safe, effective 
and economic use of medicines; optimization of treatment and health promotion; and delivery of 
quality drug information and education.  
 
Highlights 2020 
 
Medicines Governance / Regulator Compliance 

• Improved Clinical Pharmacy Service during COVID 19 pandemic with development of an 
approved process for pharmacist charting of unintended omissions at admission  

• Continued implementation of the EU Falsified Medicines Directive: to protect patients 
against “fake” medicines 

• Approved Training Establishment for Pharmacy Students under the APPEL Schools of 
Pharmacy Training Programme   
  

Dispensary Service  
• Active preparedness for BREXIT and potential drug shortages  
• COVID-19 treatment preparedness: supported implementation of HSE National Interim 

Guidelines for treatment through stockholding of COVID 19 infection treatments and 
designation of COVID 19 information folder on the electronic Formulary  

• Procured and actively supported deployment of Alcohol Gels throughout the entire hospital 
and to individual clinical staff 

• Maintained access to alcohol gel to ensure that gel is always available for use – no empty 
holders 

• Expansion of Ward Intravenous Drug Monographs available at the point of administration 
to include COVID 19 treatments 

• Contingency planning for maintaining supply of high volume COVID-related medicines use 
for Model 2S hospital; revision of ward stock lists to ensure these medicines are readily 
available at point of use  

• Standardisation of online drug procurement for routinely stock medicines assisted    dynamic 
stock level management  

• Proactive management of Drug Shortages 
• Engaged with suppliers and couriers to improve process for drug deliveries and returns  
• Decontamination of returned CPR and Anaphylaxis Kits implemented  
• Earlier morning collection of Ward Drug Requisitions introduced to minimize delayed doses 

of non-stock medicines   
• Supports added at Ward level to assist ‘Written only’ rule for accurate  communication of 

drug orders and reduce footfall to Pharmacy 
• Changes to the timing of Out-of-Hours Drugs enabled prioritisation of clinical pharmacist 

prescription review and enhanced safety 
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Antimicrobial Stewardship  
• Links to Microbiologist improved by electronic communication of reserve antimicrobial 

approvals strengthened antimicrobial stewardship  
• Stewardship of approval process and clinical review for recommended COVID 19 

antimicrobial treatments 
• Indicators for stewardship continued to be measured. Despite challenges of the COVID 19 

pandemic, most gains of previous years were maintained 
 
Clinical Pharmacy  

• Utilisation of IT systems improve prioritisation of patients for urgent clinical review  
• Medication Reconciliation at admission further developed to allow for pharmacist charting 

of unintentionally omitted medicines; audit revealed patient, doctor and nurse benefits      
• National recognition of Medication Reconciliation improvement: Clinical Pharmacist 

presented at Irish Medication Safety Network Annual Conference 2020 
• Clinical Pharmacists followed the COVID 19 arrangement of NCHDs and were aligned to 

specific Clinical Teams and ward areas  
 

 Medication Safety  
• Medication Safety Monday bite size education, with locally developed learning  as well as 

acknowledged use of St James’s Hospital resource  
• Customisation of electronic formulary, promotion and education of staff on its use  

 
Warfarin & DOAC Anticoagulation Clinic  

• Implemented timed appointment for each patient  
• Restricted numbers of patients seen at any given time and extended clinic time 
• Improved signage: reminded patients of infection control measures, maintained log for 

contact tracing   
• Clinic software used to capture Direct Oral Anticoagulants (DOAC) consultation and create 

review appointments 
• Additional Clinical Pharmacist trained for Anticoagulation Clinic  
• Focused DOAC Patient education by Clinical Pharmacists with planned follow-up post-

initiation continued  
• KPI remain high:  The time in therapeutic range (TTR), a quality measure for warfarin clinic 

patient management was 75%, which exceeds our KPI (70%), and that of the British Society 
for Haematology (60% or greater) for a well-preforming clinic 

 
Objectives 2021 

• Become an approved training establishment for Pharmacy Interns 
• Enhance Pharmacy Activity dashboard to include Clinical pharmacist activity statistics and 

dispensary KPIs  
• Develop medication reconciliation at discharge: design clinical pharmacist model  
• Ongoing implementation of the Falsified Medicines Directive with Pharmacy Technician 

resource 
• Support CRSU with Clinical Pharmacist  
• Support the Infusion Unit with a Clinical Pharmacist 
• Support Medication Safety in Theatres / Surgery  
• Collaborate with the Acute Hospitals Drug Management Programme for best value 

pharmaceuticals 
 
Conclusion 

This year has been the most challenging for the Hospital Pharmacy Team of pharmacists, pharmacy 
technicians and support personnel.  We kept going, we kept together and we even managed to make 
improvements and get national recognition.  It is a year worthy of remembering.  
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Physiotherapy 

Introduction 

As a contributor to St. John’s Hospital health service, the Department of Physiotherapy plays a key 
role in improving function, mobility and quality of life for referred inpatients and outpatients.  The 
department supports quality practice, patient safety, practice improvement, patient empowerment 
and positive health outcomes. 
 
The Department of Physiotherapy delivers inpatient and outpatient services to specific patient 
cohorts, both on an individual basis and as part of multidisciplinary programmes of care. 
• Inpatient Surgical: Gynaecology surgery, General minor surgery,  
• Inpatient Medical: Respiratory, Neuro-gerontology (elderly mobility) 
• Outpatient: Musculoskeletal including the Trauma Assessment Clinic (TAC), Pulmonary 

Rehabilitation, Women’s Health, Pain Management, Falls Management and Respiratory. 
 
2020 was a particularly challenging year for physiotherapy staff where service delivery was 
implemented in a constantly changing environment due to the threat of the Covid-19 virus. Public 
health guidelines and Infection Prevention and Control guidance underpinned all patient service 
pathways and staff interactions.  
 
Innovative and adaptive management principles were applied within the department to create new 
ways to deliver safe collaborative patient care. 
 
Highlights 2020 
• Development of inpatient guidelines to support service delivery to Covid-19 positive patients 

while maintaining IPC and public health recommendations. 
• Development of rehabilitation pathways for post Covid-19 positive patients including 

supported discharge programmes. 
• Development of Virtual Outpatient Clinics delivered by video or telephone. Continuity of 

outpatient physiotherapy intervention was maintained through the virtual clinics. 
 Virtual clinics have now become the default option for outpatient management.  
• Commenced delivery of the Trauma Assessment Clinic (TAC) for minor fractures in March 

2020; Orthopaedic Department (UHLG) virtual patient review with clinical pathway 
management by physiotherapists from St. John’s Hospital. 

• Management of walk-in referrals from MAU (no longer put on waiting lists) 
• Delivery of virtual programmes of care: 
 -Pulmonary Rehabilitation programme 
 -Chronic Pain Management 
• Corporate responsibility demonstrated with active staff involvement in hospital committees 

o Health and Wellbeing Committee 
o Learning from Excellence (LfE) Committee 
o Falls Collaboration (UHLG) 
o Pressure Ulcer Collaboration (UHLG) 
o Covid-19 Working Group 
o Hygiene Services Team 

• To support implementation of the proposed PJ Paralysis project through LfE methodology, a 
poster was presented on PJ Paralysis at LFE conference in Birmingham (Feb. 2020) 

• Clinical education placement site for BSc Physiotherapy students (X4)  
• Performance Appraisal process completed for all physiotherapy staff. 
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• The Clinical Recovery and Support Unit (CRSU) opened in January 2020; an initiative to 
facilitate patients with complex care needs, to access enhanced supports from allied health 
professionals by supporting their rehabilitation and recovery. 

 A Senior Physiotherapist joined the CRSU team in May 2020 to complete the rehabilitation 
team input. 

• Links maintained with UHLG physiotherapy clinical and administrative working groups 
e.g. Women’s Health, LBP, Acute/PCCC Physiotherapy managers etc.) these information 
sharing forums through this networking has proved a very positive addition to the department. 

• All staff’s mandatory training completed. 
• Supported staff Health and Wellbeing with a weigh-in and exercise classes for weight 

management supporting the national Operational Transformation programme (pre-Covid-19). 
 
Objectives 2021 
• Provide physiotherapy to referred patients by retaining and recruiting experienced staff who 

will deliver evidence-based care to the highest standards. 
• Maintain established links in collaboratives and shared groups within UHLG. 
• Complete training for all physiotherapists as Clinical Educators for UL’s BSc programme. 
• Audit on Trauma Assessment Clinic (TAC)  
• Participate in rotation of staff grade physiotherapists throughout the UHL group. 
 Review staff: patient ratios in CRSU 
 
Conclusion 
2020 proved to be a most challenging year for health services and healthcare staff including health 
and social care professionals who delivered their frontline service throughout the Covid-19 
pandemic. The Department of Physiotherapy delivered exemplary excellence in Covid-19 patient 
care under very difficult circumstances and maintained a supported rehabilitation option for those 
discharged patients. 
 
The introduction of the CRSU to the hospital has been a very positive development where the value 
of HSCP staff has been acknowledged and recognised through their skills and MDT cooperation. 
The new ways of working and enhanced collaborative working were challenging but have provided 
constructive new pathways for delivering safe and effective care.  Liaison with new and established 
links on site and within ULHG, have supported these new quality improvement initiatives and 
progressive care deliverables.  
 
The mutual respect, advice and support from colleagues and departments throughout the hospital, 
which was particularly evident in 2020, has enabled this department to function as an efficient unit 
and is valued by all physiotherapy staff. 
 
The commitment, energy, support and enthusiasm of physiotherapy colleagues creates an 
innovative, conscientious and pleasant environment for service delivery.  
 
The growth of the CRSU, the involvement with the TAC and the closer links with UHL through 
staff rotation, will all provide the main areas for service development in 2021. 
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Procurement and Central Stores 

Introduction 
 
The normal supply lines were threatened on a world wide scale due to the Covid-19 Pandemic. The 
HSE were in the process of buying up all PPE supplies within Ireland leaving St. John’s Hospital 
in a precarious position. Due to the strong links with our suppliers we managed to avoid running 
out of supplies. We eventually managed to get an independent supply line from National 
Procurement which allowed us to prepare for the 2nd and 3rd pandemic waves. We also established 
an independent supply lines with new vendors who were importing PPE from China and Turkey 
guaranteeing our ability to meet demand. 
 
Performance Highlights 
• Continuity of Supply for PPE throughout the Covid-19 pandemic. 
• Established very strong links with IP&C and the Medical Teams re the controls and use of PPE 

and the changing recommendations. We also worked together on contingency plans in the event 
of PPE shortages. 

• Established links with the HSE National Supply team in the second half of the year. 
• Maintained elective procedure supply lines which was significant given the ad-hoc 

manufacturing on a worldwide scale. 
• Re-configuration of the Central Stores to maximise our PPE supplies. 
• Establish 3rd party PPE suppliers which proved to be vital. 
 
Objectives 2021 
• Continuity of supply to be maintained 
• Expansion of supplies to achieve six weeks supply on all clinical stock items 
• Move vendors for underperforming supply lines 

Conclusion 
2020 was a very unpredictable year in both supply and hospital activities. The sheer dedication of 
our team pulling together provided the best possible service for St. John’s Hospital and the Patients 
within. 
 
2021 has provided many supply line difficulties due to world-wide manufacturing difficulties, raw 
material shortages, and vendors are now holding smaller quantities of product however we are 
striving to adapt to the situation as we progress into the 2nd half of the year.  
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Quality, Risk and Patient Safety 

Introduction:  
 
The role of Quality & Patient Safety Department (QRPS) is to provide leadership and 
support in delivering high quality, safe, person centred care to patients within a culture of 
continuous improvement that supports the welfare of patients and staff within St. Johns 
Hospital. This is enabled through collaboration with departments in determining and 
defining systems and processes for quality and patient safety. This includes supporting 
departments in risk management and to review and learn from adverse events, incidents, 
claims, complaints and service user feedback. 
 
In June 2020 the QRPS departments was established combining Risk Management, Claims, 
Quality, Incident Management, Patient Safety, Training, Staff Health and Safety and Open 
Disclosure. The report encompasses the key activities where this department had a lead 
responsibility for delivery. 

 
Clinical Incidents 

 
To increase awareness of lessons learned from incidents, the Hospital provided a quarterly Incident 
Report which included a comprehensive overview of issues and themes arising from incidents.  
 
For the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 the hospital reported a total of 25.1 
incidents per 1000 bed days, an increase from 16.8 incident per 1000 bed days in 2019, this is shown 
on the graph below.  
 

 
All Reported Incidents previous 5 years  

 
 

Year 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Total Incidents Reported   665 515 397 391 364 



Annual Report 2020 
 

- 61 - 
 

  Incidents by Severity 2020 

Dangerous 
Occurrences 

Negligible / Minor Moderate Major Extreme 

56 455 70 0 11 
 

 

Top 5 Incidents Reported for 2020 

Clinical Care Physical Hazards 
incl. slips, trips, 

falls 

Behavioural 
Hazards – VHA and 

Self Injurious 

Medication 
Incidents 

Biological 
Hazards 

139 129 127 61 59 
  

 
Quality Improvement Plan for Incident Management 
The HSE Incident Management Framework was launched in 2020.  All Category 1&2 incidents and 
Serious Reportable Events were reviewed in line with the Incident Management Framework.  
Incident reviews led to the development of recommendations and action plans and sharing of 
learning.   

 
Top 3 Organisational Risks 2020  

• Covid-19  
• Infection Prevention and Control Risks  
• Risk of failure to comply with full GDPR requirements  

 
Claims Management 
Claims made against the hospital (either clinical or non-clinical) are managed in partnership with 
the State Claims Agency while acting fairly and ethically in dealing with people who have suffered 
injuries and/or damage, and their families.  Types of claims include; Injury to employees, Injury to 
a member of the public, clinical negligence, third-party property damage. 
 
Summary of Claims – 2020 

Total Active Claims as of 31st December 2020 

Service User  Member of the Public Staff Member Total 
24 4 5 33 

 

Claims Reported from 2016 – 2020 
Who was Involved 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Service User-Clinical Care 5 3 4 9 4 
Member of Public 3 2 1 1 1 
Staff Member 0 4 1 1 1 
Service user-General 3 0 1 0 0 

 

Compliments & Complaints 
There was a total of 21 complaints during 2020. The top three complaint themes were: 

• Clinical decision making  
• Poor staff attitude and behaviour 
• Poor service, signage and visiting 
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Compliments, suggestions and feedback are collected monthly from the wards and fed back to the 
department/ward areas by the QRPS department. 
  
Open Disclosure 
Open disclosure is open honest and timely communication with patients when things go wrong in 
healthcare and when the outcome for the patient was not in accordance with the intended goal or 
plan. The HSE Open Disclosure Policy was launched in 2013 and revised and updated nationally in 
2019. The QRPS Manager is the Open Disclosure Lead for St. John’s Hospital.   
 
Safety Statements 
The Corporate Safety Statement was reviewed, and review of departmental risk assessments was 
commenced.  The Site-specific Safety Statement is due for review. 
 

Fire Safety  
The Fire Safety Policy and Procedures were launched and training on the document was commenced 
in February 2020. An on-line theoretical fire training was developed with an external provider and 
launched,based on the Fire Safety Policy and Procedures. 
 
Dangerous Goods Safety Audit 
One Dangerous Goods Safety Advisor (DGSA) Audits was carried out in 2020, on 7th December.  
The level of compliance with the guidelines and regulations associated with the segregation, 
handling, storage and transport of dangerous goods was good. Particular commendation was given 
to: 
• Chemical Safety Awareness training was conducted for staff through HSEland 
• Chemical dispensers have been labelled with hazard signage 
• An alternative to decanting of Formalin in the operating theatres is in progress 
• Waste management policy is implemented on-site, and a waste segregation training programme 

provided 
• Secure chemical storage is in place and the minimal quantity of hazardous is chemicals stored 

 

Following the audit, a quality improvement plan was developed and co-ordinated with Department 
Heads by the QRPS department, to rectify any issues raised. The next audit is scheduled for June 
2021.  
 
Environmental Monitoring  
No environmental monitoring was carried out in 2020 due to Covid-19 restrictions and resultant 
theatre/ endoscopy inactivity.   
 
Training  
In compliance with the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act (2005) the hospital has a 
comprehensive training programme in place, which is co-ordinated by the Quality, Risk and Patient 
Safety Department. Department Heads manage staff training within their areas of responsibility. 
Face to face training posed a challenge in 2020 due to Covid-19 restrictions. 
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Radiology 

Introduction 
The Radiology Department consists of the following imaging modalities; X-ray, CT, Ultrasound and 
PACS - Picture Archiving Systems.  Diagnostic Imaging services are provided to Out patients, In 
patients, GP’s, LIU, MAU and Dayward.  St. John’s Hospital is part of the National Integrated 
Medical Imaging System (NIMIS). The NIMIS PACS allows users to view images and reports within 
St. John’s Hospital and all other NIMIS sites.  Global Diagnostics Ireland provided Radiologist 
reporting remotely. 
 
Performance Highlights 
 

 X-ray CT US Th 
2020 18,121 2,016 1,238 388 
2019 22,225 2,368 1,675 597 
2018 23, 088 2,604 1,729 668 
2017 22,188 2,285 1,560 534 
2016 21,197 2,384 1,685 692 
2015 20,996 2,382 1,734 599 

 
Monthly 
Average: 

X-ray CT US 

2020 1,812 224 123 
2019 1,852 197 140 

 
• 2020: owing to COVID 19; OP imaging was impacted and reduced to approx. 10 months for X-

ray & US. approx. 9mths for CT (inc. scanner breakdown time) 
• Theatre / dayward was closed for 3.5months 
• X-ray Room 1 (Main Department) equipment was replaced with a Carestream Digital System, 

operational March 2021.  X-ray capacity was reduced by 50% as new equipment was 
commissioned 

• Monthly averages were essentially maintained throughout the rest of the year, with an increase 
in CT monthly average 

• St John’s Hospital Radiation Safety Procedures (Local Rules) have been updated by the Medical 
Physics team and implemented by the Radiographers 

• Clinical Specialist Radiation Protection Officer post established 
• The Radiology Department facilitated the opening of the LIU on Saturday and Sunday by 

extending the departments hours to now include Saturday and Sunday 
• Radiology participated in the National Diagnostic Reference Level (DRL) Survey to help establish 

new and up to date national DRL’s for X-ray examinations 
• St John’s Hospital Radiology Department fulfilled all CT and X-ray imaging requirements for the 

University of Limerick Field Hospital 
• Review and audit of radiation dose patients receive when having an X-ray for X-ray Rooms 1 & 

2; comparing the old x-ray equipment to new x-ray equipment was undertaken.  An impressive 
overall reduction in patient radiation dose was noted; in particular a 75% dose reduction for 
Lumbar Spines and 60% dose reduction for Abdomen in Room 1.  30% dose reduction for Chest 
x-rays in Room 2. 

• Audit results presented to the Radiation Safety Committee Nov 2020. 
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• CT Scanner – replaced with a Canon Aquilion Prime 160 slice, operational Sept 2021. 
• Review and audit of radiation dose patients receive when having a CT scan; comparing the old 

CT scanner to new CT scanner was undertaken.  A reduction in radiation dose was noted across 
all CT examinations. 

• Notably 29.7% reduction in radiation dose for CT Brains, 76% reduction in radiation dose for 
CT Pulmonary Angiograms and 51% reduction in radiation dose for Thorax/Abdomen/Pelvis. 

• During the replacement of the CT scanner, to ensure a continued service to consultants, the 
hospital and patients; Radiographers travelled to Ennis to scan St John’s patients in the CT dept. 
at Ennis General Hospital.  This involved Radiographers working off site for a number of 
months.  Carefully planned preparation of patients in advance of their transfer to EGH and 
coordination with the wards to organise transport of the patients.  Infection Control measures 
were stringently implemented, especially in light of the COVID 19 global pandemic. 

• Mobile X-ray Machine - received a digital retrofit. This was invaluable when carrying out 
portable imaging during the height of the COVID 19 pandemic.  With digital imaging the image 
appears immediately on the screen attached to the mobile machine, therefore eliminating the 
need for the Radiographer having to return to the dept. to review the image.  

• Waiting List Initiative; St John’s Hospital are scanning 60 patients per month from UHL, these 
are patients who have been waiting for an extended period for their CT scan. 

• Image Quality Reviews 2020: for both x-ray rooms and CT. 
• Audits performed in 2020: 

1. Carers and Comforters Audit 2020 
2. CT Audit to Establish Local CT DRL’s 2020 
3. Audit to Determine Compliance to the LMP Policy 2020 
4. Audit of Radiation Incidents & Near Misses (Reportable & Non-Reportable) 2020 
5. Referrers Audit 2020 
6. Audit to Determine Compliance to the Triple ID checklist 2020 

 
Objectives 2021 
• NIMIS 1.8 
• NIMIS 2 
• Preparation for CRIS in 2022 – the implementation of a National Radiology Information System 
• BEAM - The key function of BEAM is to facilitate the exchange of imaging studies between 

NIMIS sites & Non NIMIS sites/Private hospitals 
• Healthlink – GP’s able to refer for X-ray electronically via Healthlink 
• Ensure all staff are compliant in mandatory training 
• New mandatory training database specific to Radiology to be established in conjunction with IT 
• Implement further audits in 2021, as suggested by St. John’s Radiology Safety Committee 
 
Conclusion 
It has been a busy, turbulent and exciting year for Radiology, with the installation of Carestream 
Digital System in the main department and Cannon Aquilion Prime 160 slice CT scanner.  Which 
we are already seeing the benefits of with a reduction in patient dose and improved image quality. 
 
The Radiology department and its staff have shown great dedication to the hospital and its 
patients.  Demonstrating huge flexibility during the installation of the new CT scanner and the 
opening of LIU at weekends.  We have reviewed our work practices and evolved with hospitals 
requirements during the COVID 19 pandemic.  
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   Activity       
     Statistics  
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St. John’s Hospital 
 

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive and the Board 
Year ended 31 December 2020 

 

The Chief Executive is required under the Hospital Constitution to keep accurate accounts of 
all receipts and payments on behalf of the Charity and such accounts shall be audited by the 
Auditors appointed by the Board.  The Board shall approve the annual audited accounts and 
will furnish the Trustees the annual audited accounts for their review.  Copies of the accounts 
so audited shall be furnished by the Chief Executive to the Authority.  The Board is required, 
in accordance with the guidelines and accounting standards issued by the Department of 
Health, to:  
 

(1) Prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the results and  
state of affairs of the hospital,  

 
(2) Select suitable accounting policies which are consistently applied, identify and   

explain any departure from accounting standards,  
 
(3)  Make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent,  
 
(4)  Safeguard the assets of the hospital and take reasonable steps for the prevention   
 and detection of fraud.  
 

 As a publicly funded body, the Hospital is required to comply with Public Pay  
Policy and is in full compliance with Public Pay Policy. 

  
  
 

 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 

 

+ Brendan Leahy D.D. ) Chairperson 
  
Emer Martin ) Chief Executive 
  

 
Date:  10 June 2021 
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St. John’s Hospital 
 

Statement of the Board Members’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual  
Financial Statements 

 
Year ended 31 December 2020 

 

The members of the Board are responsible for preparing the annual financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law.  
 
Section 36 of the Health Act 2004 requires St. John’s Hospital to prepare the annual financial 
statements in such form as the Minister for Health may direct and in accordance with accounting 
standards specified by the Minister.  
 
In preparing the annual financial statements, Board members are required to:  
 

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently  
•  make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  
•  disclose and explain any material departures from applicable accounting  
 standards; and  
•  prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate  
 to presume that St. John’s Hospital will continue in business.  

 
The Board members are responsible for ensuring that accounting records are maintained which 
disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of St. John’s Hospital. The 
Board members are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of St. John’s Hospital and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
  
  
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 

 

+ Brendan Leahy D.D. ) Chairperson 
  
Emer Martin ) Chief Executive 
  

 
Date:  10 June 2021  
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Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial statements of St. John’s Hospital (“the Hospital”), which 
comprise the Non Capital Income and Expenditure Account, Capital Income and Expenditure 
Account, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement for the financial year ended 31 December 
2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant 
accounting policies.  
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial 
statements is applicable law and accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” (Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland) and the Accounting 
Standards for Voluntary Hospitals issued by the Department of Health, (“the Guidelines”).  
 
In our opinion, St. John’s Hospital financial statements:  

• give a true and fair view in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Hospital as at 31 
December 2020 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial year 
then ended; and  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Accounting 
Standards for Voluntary Hospitals issued by the Department of Health.  

 
 
Basis for opinion 
  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) 
(‘ISAs (Ireland’)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the ‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements’ section 
of our report. We are independent of the hospital in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical 
Standards for Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority (IAASA) and the ethical pronouncements established by Chartered Accountants 
Ireland, applied as determined to be appropriate in the circumstances for the entity. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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Conclusions relating to going concern  
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Board’s use of going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt  
on the Hospital’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Board’s with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.   
  
 
Other information  
 
Other information comprises information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon, including the Responsibilities of the Trustees and 
the Board and the Statement of the Board Members’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual 
Financial Statements.  The Board is responsible for the other information.  Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.     
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies in the financial statements, 
we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.  
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements  
As explained more fully in the “Responsibilities of the Chief Executive and the Board” and the 
“Statement of the Board Members Responsibilities”, management is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair view in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, including FRS 102 and the Accounting 
Standards for Voluntary Hospitals issued by the Department of Health, and for such internal 
control as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the hospital’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the hospital or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the hospital’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements  
 
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes their opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The auditor will also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
their opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,  
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty  
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exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the hospital’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If they conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
they are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify their opinion. 
Their conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a matter that achieves a true and fair view.  

 
The auditor communicates with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including  
any significant deficiencies in internal control that may be identified during the audit.  
 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
  
This report is made solely to the hospital’s members, as a body, in accordance with the scope 
of our appointment under the terms of our engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the hospital’s members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the hospital and the hospital’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.   
 
 
 
Damian Gleeson FCCA 
For and on behalf of 
Grant Thornton 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm 
Limerick 
 
Date:   10 June 2021 
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St. John’s Hospital 
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

 
We certify that the financial statements of St. John’s Hospital for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020 as set out herein are in agreement with the books of account 
and have been drawn up in accordance with the accounting standards as laid down by 
the Minister for Health.  

 
These financial statements, which comprise pages 83 to 101 and the statement of 
accounting policies, on pages 83 to 86, give the true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the hospital at 31 December 2020 and of its income and expenditure and cash flow 
for the year then ended. 

 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
+ Brendan Leahy, D.D. 

 
) Chairperson 

  
Emer Martin ) Chief Executive 
  

Date:  10 June 2021  
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      Note 2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Cumulative Non-Capital (Surplus)/ Deficit      
B/F From Previous Year     1,038 500 
 
Pay         
Salaries            23 19,993 18,676 
Superannuation and Gratuities        23 4,462 3,344 
       24,455 22,020 
Non-Pay        
Direct Patient Care           23 3,272 3,793 
Support Services           23 2,414 2,722 
Financial & Administrative          23 1,154 1,207 
       6,840 7,722 
         
Gross Expenditure for the Year 
Includes Surplus from previous year   

32,333 30,242 

         
Income            23 3,254 5,940 
         
Net Expenditure for the Year    29,079 24,302 
         
Determination from HSE   28,081 23,264 
         
Deficit C/F to Following Year   998 1,038 

 
 
With the exception of fixed asset depreciation which is dealt with through the Capitalisation 
Account, all recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been  
included in the Income and Expenditure Account. 
The net deficit in both years arises from continuing operations. 
 
The financial statements, which include the accountings policies and notes, which were drawn 
up in compliance with the accounting standards laid down by the Minister for Health & 
Children, were approved by the Board on 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
+ Brendan Leahy, D.D.  
 

) Chairperson 

Emer Martin  
 

) Chief Executive 

  
Date:  10 June 2021   
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       2020 2019 
       €’000 €,000 
Capital Income Sources        
HSE- Capital Grant     900 263 
HSE - Charge on non-capital Income & Expenditure  10 - 
HSE - Non-Capital Repayment of Loan Capital  - - 
Fund-raising - Capital only     - - 
EU Grants      - - 
Disposal, Net Proceeds of     - - 
Other       407 - 
Total Capital Income     1,317 263 
Capital Expenditure        
Land       40 - 
Buildings      - - 
Work-In-Progress      - - 
Equipment      1,246 275 
Vehicles       - - 
Other       - - 
Capital Expenditure - Capitalised    1,286 275 
         
Capital Expenditure - Not Capitalised   61 85 
Total Capital Expenditure     1,347 360 

          
Opening (Surplus) from previous year   (935) (1,032) 
         
Closing (Surplus) to following year   (905) (935) 

 
With the exception of fixed asset depreciation which is dealt with through the Capitalisation 
Account, all recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been 
included in the Income and Expenditure Account. 
The net deficit/(surplus) in both years arises from continuing operations. 
 
The financial statements, which include the accounting policies and notes, which were drawn 
up in compliance with the accounting standards laid down by the Minister for Health & 
Children, were approved by the Board on 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 

 
+ Brendan Leahy, D.D. 
 

) Chairperson 

 Emer Martin 
 

) Chief Executive 

Date: 10 June 2021  
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      Note 2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Fixed Assets         

Tangible Assets     12 10,461 
 

9,884 
Financial Assets      - - 

       10,461 9,884 
         
Current Assets        
Debtors      13 3,113 3,939 
Stocks      14 329 302 
Investments      - - 
Cash in hand and bank balances    272 6 
       3,714 4,247 
         
Creditors-Amounts Falling Due Within One Year    
Creditors     15 3,348 4,142 
Bank loans and overdraft     459 208 
Obligations under Finance Leases    - - 
    3,807 4,350 
Net Current Assets    (93) (103) 
         
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities   10,368 9,781 
 
Creditors-Amounts Falling Due After One Year    
Bank Loans      - - 
Obligations under Finance Leases    - - 
       - - 
Capital & Reserves       
Non-Capital Income & Expenditure Deficit  (998) (1,038) 
Capital Income & Expenditure Surplus   905 935 
Capitalisation Account    17 10,461 9,884 
       10,368 9,781 

The financial statements, which include the accounting policies and notes, which were drawn 
up in compliance with the accounting standards laid down by the Minister for Health & 
Children, were approved by the Board on 

 
On behalf of the Board  
+ Brendan Leahy     ) Chairperson 

 

     
Emer Martin                                                      ) Chief Executive   

  Date:  10 June 2021 
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      Note 2020 2019 
      €’000 €’000 
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities 18 92 1,024 
        
Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance    
Interest Paid on Loans and Overdraft   (8) (6) 
Interest Paid re Finance Leases    - - 
Equity Dividends Received     - - 
Interest Received     - - 
Net Cash (Outflow) from servicing of Finance (8) (6) 
        
Capital Expenditure       
Expenditure from HSE Capital    (1,286) (275) 
Add back unpaid Capital Expenditure   - - 
Add back movements in finance lease obligations  - - 
      (1,286) (275) 
Capital Expenditure - Not Capitalised   (61) (85) 
Payments from non-capital, re acquisition of fixed assets (39) - 
Receipts on sale of fixed assets    - - 
Net Cash (Outflow) from Capital Expenditure (1,386) (360) 
        
Net Cash (Outflow) /Inflow before Financing  (1,302) 658 
        
Financing        
HSE Capital grant received    910 263 
Receipts from other sources -acquisition of fixed assets 407 - 
      1,317 263 
        
Increase in investments     - - 
Capital element of finance lease rental repayments  - - 
Cash Inflow from movement in Debt and Lease Financing - - 
Net Cash Inflow from Financing  1,317 263 
        
Net Cash Flow     15 921 
        
Increase in Cash and Bank  19 266 4 
Increase/(Decrease) in Bank Loans < 1 Year & O/D 19 (251) 917 
Increase in Bank Loans > 1 Year 19 - - 
Changes in Net Debt     15 921 
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1. General Information  
 
 St. John’s is an acute General Public Voluntary Hospital. The property is vested in 

Trustees. St. John’s Hospital is a Registered Charity under the Charities Act 2009 
(Registered Charity No. 20000394) and is administered and managed in accordance with 
a Hospital Constitution approved by the Charities Regulatory Authority. The Hospital’s 
main address is John’s Square, Limerick.  

 
2.  Basis of Accounting  
 
(i)  The preparation of financial statements in compliance with Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 (Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and the Accounting 
Standards for Statutory Hospitals requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Hospital's 
accounting policies (see note 1 (iv)).  

 
 These accounts were prepared on an accruals basis under the historical cost convention, 

as modified for the valuation of fixed assets, in accordance with the accounting 
standards laid down by the Minister for Health. Those standards also provide that the 
following, should be treated on a receipts and payment basis:- EU Funds, Road Traffic 
Accident Income, Out-Patients Charges and minor miscellaneous incomes.  

 
(ii) Grants from the Health Service Executive are the amounts for the year allocated by the 

Executive up to the date of certification of these accounts by the Chief Executive 
Officer.  

 
(iii) The currency used in these financial statements is the Euro denoted by the symbol €.  
 
(iv) The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
financial statements and the reported amount of income and expenses during the 
reporting period. Management evaluates its estimates and judgements on an ongoing 
basis. Management bases its estimates and judgements on historical experience on 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates under different assumption or conditions. The 
following estimate/ judgement is considered important to the portrayal of the Hospital’s 
financial condition:  

 
 Going concern:  
 After reviewing the Hospital’s forecasts and projections of HSE financial support, the 

Board have a reasonable expectation that the Hospital has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Board therefore 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.  

 
(v) The level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial statements is €’000.  
 
  



St. John’s Hospital 
 

Accounting Policies 
 

 

- 84 - 
 

 
3.  Fixed Assets  
 
(i)  The fixed assets are also included in the balance sheet at cost or valuation, where the 

cost of each individual asset is at least €3,809 (computer equipment at least €1,270) and 
an equivalent credit is included in the balance sheet capitalisation account. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.  

 
 
(ii) The basis of valuation of the hospital's fixed assets is as follows:  
 
 Land:   As advised by the Department of Health.  
  
 Buildings:  Valuation or cost, less accumulated depreciation.  
  
 WIP:   Cost. 
  
 Equipment:  Cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
 

 
 

4. Fixed Assets and Related Capital Account  
 
 Buildings were revalued at 20 October 2015 by Bruce Shaw and are stated in the 

accounts at the revalued amount.  
 
 Land is stated at 1 April 1981 valuation.  
  
 Plant and Equipment are stated at 31 December 1982 valuation and subsequent 

additions at cost.  
 
 In accordance with the guidelines, it is not policy of the hospital to charge depreciation 

on fixed assets to the income and expenditure account. Instead, depreciation, which is 
calculated on fixed assets is matched by an equivalent write down in the Capitalisation 
Account. The following bases and rates apply:  

 
 Land     No Depreciation  
 Buildings    2.5% Straight Line  
 WIP     No Depreciation  

  Equipment    20% Straight Line 
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5. Stocks 
  
 Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling 

price less costs to complete and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase on a first in, 
first out basis.  

 
 At each reporting date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stock is impaired, the 

carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

 
 
6. Pension Scheme  
 
 Contributions from employees who are members of the Voluntary Hospitals 

Superannuation Scheme are treated as income in accordance with the requirements of 
the Department of Health. Pension payments under the scheme are charged to the 
Income and Expenditure Account when paid.  

 
 
7. Bad Debts  
 

  Known bad debts are written off and appropriate provision is made for any debts that 
 appear doubtful.  

 
 

8. Debtors 
 
 Short term debtors are measured at transaction price including transaction costs, less 

any impairment.  
 
 
9.  Cash and cash equivalents  
 
 Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 

without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in no more than three months from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change 
in value.  

 
 In the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 

overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Hospital’s cash 
management.  

 
 
10.  Creditors  
  
 Short term creditors are measured at transaction price including transaction costs, less 

any impairment. 
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11. Contingent Liabilities 
  
 There were no material contingent liabilities at 31 December 2020. 
 
12. Financial instruments  
 
 The Hospital only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the 

recognition of financial assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors, 
loans from banks and other third parties.  

 
 Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), 

including loans and other accounts receivable and payable, are initially measured at 
present value of the future cash flows and subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one 
year, typically trade payables or receivables, are measured, initially and subsequently, 
at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be paid or 
received. However if the arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a financing 
transaction, like the payment of a trade debt deferred beyond normal business terms or 
financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in case of an out-right short-
term loan not at market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured, initially, at the 
present value of the future cash flow discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar 
debt instrument and subsequently at amortised cost.  

 
 Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of 

each reporting period for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of 
impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Income and expenditure 
account.  

  
 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Balance 

sheet when there is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

 
13. Income  
 
 Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 

flow to the Hospital and the income can be reliably measured. Income is measured as 
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, 
value added tax and other sales taxes.  

 
 Income should be accrued in respect of in-patients who have been treated during the 

year and discharged on or before the year-end but for whom bills had not been issued 
by the year-end. Regarding patients whose stay in hospital ran on from the year of 
account into the following year, the accrual should be computed on the basis of patient-
days up to the year-end.  

 
 In line with the Accounting Standards for Voluntary Hospitals laid down by the Minister 

for Health the following income is recognised on a receipts and payments basis: Road 
Traffic Accident Income, Out-Patients Charges and minor miscellaneous income.
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Insurance : Note 1      2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Medical Defence          
(a) Consultants      - - 
(b) NCHDs      - - 
       - - 
Other         
Public Liability      2 2 
Employers Liability      - - 
Property       30 28 
Other       25 28 
       57 58 
         
Misc. Non-Capital Expenditure    2020 2019 
On Capital Projects : Note 2     €’000 €’000 
Land       10 - 
Buildings       - - 
Work-In-Progress      - - 
Equipment      - - 
Vehicles       - - 
Other       - - 
       10 - 
         
Miscellaneous Expenses : Note 3    2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Security       205 210 
Publications Etc.      2 4 
Membership / Subscriptions etc.     - - 
Interest on Late Payments     - - 
Education / Training      52 18 
Shop / Restaurant Purchases     - - 
Other       86 117 
       345 349 
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Analysis of Patient Income : Note 4    2020 2019 
In-Patients       €’000 €’000 
Statutory In-Patient Charges     91 113 
Private / Semi Private Charges     1,931 4,543 
Long Stay Charges      - - 
Other In-Patient Charges     - - 
       2,022 4,656 
Out-Patients        
Statutory Accident & Emergency Charges    128 144 
Other Out-Patient Charges     - - 
       128 144 
         
Total Patient Income     2,150 4,800 
         
Income From External Agencies : Note 5    2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Laboratory      - - 
Pathology      - - 
Radiology      - - 
Commissioning Services     - - 
Other       - - 
       - - 
         
Other Income (Non-Capital) : Note 6    2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Shop / Restaurant Sales     - - 
Car Parking      - - 
Public Telephones      -                - 
Pharmacy / stores sales - Staff & Patients    - - 
Recoverables      - - 
Insurance Claims      - - 
Fas Grants      - - 
Rents / Licences / Franchises     - 1                
PP Admin. Charges      - - 
Fund Raising - Non-Capital only     - - 
Sundries       43 46 
Equity Dividend Received     - - 
Interest received      - - 
       43 47 
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Summary Pay Analysis (Memorandum Only)   2020 2019 
Note 7       €’000 €’000 
Basic Pay      14,905 14,169 
Overtime       505 406  
Premium Pay      907 799 
Shift Allowance      - - 
Holiday / Public Holiday Premiums    108 115 
Higher Degree      - - 
Special Nursing      100 127 
On call / Standby      135 151 
PRSI Employer      1,627 1,486 
Travel Allowance      - 3 
Other       6,168 4,764 
       24,455 22,020 
         
Reconciliation of Expenditure to Cost of     2020 2019 
Services (Memorandum Only) : Note 8    €’000 €’000 
           
Net Expenditure - Current Year     29,079 24,302 

Deduct       
 
  

Purchase of Equipment from Non-Capital    39 - 
Funding of Capital Projects from Non-Capital    10 - 
Loan Repayments - Principal Only     - - 
Depreciation on Disposal     - 
Total Deductions      49 - 
         
Sub-Total      29,030 24,302 
Add-Back        
Depreciation charge for Year     748 595 
Running Cost of Service     29,778 24,897 
         
Road Traffic Accident (Memorandum    2020 2019 
Only) : Note 9      €’000 €’000 
           
Balance at 1 January     -               - 
Bills Issued in Respect of the Year    - - 
Less Cash Received during the Year    - - 
Less Waivers and other Write-Offs    - - 
Balance at 31 December     - - 
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Statement of Advances & Balances Due From   2020 2019 
HSE Non-Capital & Capital : Note 10    €’000 €’000 
Non-Capital          
Total notified non-capital determination for the year   28,081 23,264 
Less: Remittances from HSE Non-Capital in the year   (26,351) (21,699) 
Balance due from HSE in respect of the year   1,730 1,565 
         
Balance due from HSE re previous year @ 1 Jan   1,565 2,834 
Less: Remittances from HSE in year re: previous year   (1,565) (2,834) 
Balance due from HSE re previous year @ 31 Dec   - - 
         
Total Balance of Approved Non-Capital       
Determinations Due From HSE    1,730 1,565 
Capital         
Total Capital Grants notified by HSE for the year   900 263 
Less: Remittances from HSE Capital in the year   (900) (263) 
Balance due from HSE in respect of the year   - - 
          
Balance due from HSE re previous year @ 1 Jan   -    - 
Less: Remittances from HSE in year re: previous year   - -   
Balance due from HSE re previous year @ 31 Dec   - - 
         
Total Balance of Capital Grants Due From HSE    - - 
         
Gross Total Due From HSE Capital & Non-Capital  1,730 1,565 

 
Purchase of Equipment and Vehicles From   2020 2019 
Non-Capital Account (Capitalised) : Note 11   €’000 €’000 
X-Ray / Imaging Equipment     21 - 
Medical Equipment     18 - 
Catering Equipment     - - 
Laundry Equipment      - - 
Maintenance Equipment      - - 
Farm & Garden Equipment     - - 
Computer Equipment     - - 
      - - 
       39       - 
Vehicles Purchased      - - - 
       39 - 

  



 
 

St. John’s Hospital 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2020 
 

- 91 - 
 

            Schedule of Fixed Assets  
 and  Land Buildings Work-In Equipment Total 
 Depreciation : Note 12      Progress     
    €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 
              

            Cost Or Valuation at  
     
     1-Jan-20 159 14,491 - 9,523 24,173 

 Transfers from Work-In-Progress - - - - - 
 Sub-Total   159 14,491 -    9,523 24,173 
              

 Additions From Capital  40 - - 1,246 
    

1,286 
 Additions From Non-Capital - - - 39 39 
 Disposals during the year  - -     -     (656) (656) 
 Cost / Valuation at 31-Dec-20 199 14,491 - 10,152 24,842 
         

   Accumulated Depreciation  
 at 1-Jan-20 - 5,125 - 9,164 14,289 

            Depreciation charge for year  - 362 -   386 748 
            Disposals - Accumulated  
 Depreciation - - - (656)     

    
(656) 

            Accumulated Depreciation  
 at 31-Dec-20 - 5,487 - 8,894 14,381 
         
            Net Book Amount at 1-Jan-20 159 9,366 - 359 9,884 

         
            Net Book Amount at 31-Dec-20 199 9,004 - 1,258 10,461 
       
           Valuation of Fixed Assets       

Messrs. Louis De Courcy Ltd., Auctioneers, completed Professional valuations of fixed assets 
 as follows:                                                             €                  
  
 Land & Building  01/04/1981    4,114,581                     
   
 Plant & Equipment  31/12/1982       808,620 

 
The revision of the amounts stated was made to comply with the requirements of the Department 
of Health. Subsequent additions under the various headings are stated at cost.  In accordance with 
Department of Health instructions land has been valued at the rate per acre advised by the 
Department. 
 
Bruce Shaw completed an Insurance Reinstatement valuation of buildings at 20 October 2015 

 as follows: 
 
 Building   20/10/2015  30,677,956 
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Debtors : Note 13      2020 2019 
       €'000 €'000 
HSE - Revenue Grants Due     1,730 1,565 
HSE - Capital Grants Due     - - 
HSE Debtors      1,730 1,565 
         
HSE Mid-West       97 109 
Patients (Closing Ledger Balance)     2,272 3,480 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts    (1,178) (1,377) 
Other       99 29 
Prepayments      93 133 
Non-HSE & Non-HSE Mid-West Debtors    1,286 2,265 
         
Total Debtors      3,113 3,939 

An impairment loss of €1,178,222 (2019: €1,377,414) was recognised against trade debtors. 
 
Stocks - Note 14      2020 2019 
       €'000 €'000 
Drugs & Medicines      117         96 
Blood & Blood Products     - - 
Medical Gases      - - 
Medical & Surgical Supplies     182        166 
Sterile Supplies      - - 
Pathology Supplies      - - 
X-Ray / Imaging      18            28 
Provisions      - - 
Laundry / Cleaning      7            8 
Bedding / Clothing      - - 
Furniture / Crockery      -           - 
Heat / Power / Light Supplies     - - 
Maintenance Supplies      -            - 
Office Supplies      5           4 
Computer Supplies      - - 
Shop       - - 
       329        302 

 

An impairment loss of €Nil (2019: €14,720) was recognised in direct patient care against stock during 
the year due to slow-moving and obsolete stock. In the opinion of the Board the replacement cost of 
the stock did not differ significantly from the figure shown.
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Creditors - Note 15      2020 2019 
       €'000 €'000 
Creditors - Capital      - - 
Creditors - Non-Capital     690 928 
PAYE and PRSI      545 468 
Wages and Salaries      1,202 1,506 
Other       911 1,240 
       3,348 4,142 

 
Bank Loans - Greater Than One Year : Note 16   2020 2019 
       €'000 €'000 
Bank Loans      - - 
Deficit Bank Loan Account     - - 
Deficit Financing Account     - - 
       - - 
         
Capitalisation Account : Note 17     2020 2019 
       €'000 €'000 
Balance at beginning of year     9,884 10,204 
Additions        
Capital Expenditure      1,286 275 
Non-Capital Expenditure     39 - 
Sub-Total Additions      1,325 275 
         
Less         
Disposals      - - 
Depreciation for the year     748 595 
Sub-Total Deductions     748 595 
         
Balance at year-end     10,461 9,884 
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Note To The Cash Flow Statement : Note 18    2020 2019 
       €'000 €'000 
(Deficit) Non-Capital     (998) (1,038) 
Add back Deficit/(Surplus) brought forward    1,038 500 
Surplus for current year     40 (538) 
Deduct repayment of loan (Capital element) charged     
against non-capital      - - 
Deduct Interest and Dividend Income     - - 
Add back purchase of equipment from non- 
capital    39  
Add back Interest charged against non-capital    8 6 
(Increase) in Stocks     (27) (36) 
(Increase)/Decrease in HSE Debtors (Non-Capital)   (165) 1,269 
Decrease/(Increase) in HSE Mid-West Debtors    12 (109) 
Decrease in Non-HSE and Non-HSE Mid-West Debtors   979 106 
Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors    (794) 326 
Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities   92 1,024 

 
Analysis of Changes in Net   At 1 Cash Non Cash At 31 
Debt : Note 19    Jan '20 Flow Changes Dec '20 

     €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 
Cash in Hand and Bank Balances              6 266 - 272 
Bank Overdraft    (208) (251) - (459) 
     (202) 15 - (187) 
Bank Loans         
Debt Due within one year   - - - - 
Debt Due after one year   - - - - 
     - - - - 
          
Finance Leases : within one year   - - - - 
Finance Leases : from 2 to 5 years   - - - - 
     - - - - 
         
     (202) 15 - (187) 
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Reconciliation of Net Cash inflow to     2020 2019 
Movement in Net Debt : Note 20     €'000 €'000 
           
Increase/(Decrease) in cash in the year    15 921 
Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from increase/(decrease) in      
debt and lease financing     - - 
Changes in net debt resulting from cash flow    15 921 
New Finance Leases taken out in the year    - - 
Changes in Net Debt      15 921 
Net Debt at beginning of year     (202) (1,123) 
Net Debt at end of year     (187) (202) 

 
          
 

 Note 21. Related Parties 
 
No transactions with related parties occurred requiring financial statement disclosure. 
 
Total key management personnel compensation was €173,618 (2019: €166,631).  Key 
management personnel compensation comprises the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief 
Executive.     
 
 
 

 Note 22. Post Balance Sheets Events 
 
Since the year end the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to have a direct effect on the 
hospital, the economy and the general population.  The Board is closely monitoring the 
evolution of the pandemic, and while there is no clear indication as to when the impact will 
be curtailed or eliminated, they will continue to take appropriate actions to mitigate any 
possible adverse effects on the hospital. 
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23. Non-Capital Income & Expenditure - Details     
       2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Pay           
Management / Administration     3,235 3,024 
Medical / Dental I (NCHDs)     2,252 1,962 
Medical / Dental II (Consultants)     2,064 2,118 
Nursing       7,834 7,339 
Paramedical      1,311 1,169 
Catering & Housekeeping / Support Services    3,159 2,930 
Maintenance / Technical     138 134 
       19,993 18,676 
         
Pensions & Refunds      2,721 2,486 
Gratuities / Lump Sums     1,741 858 
Others       - - 
       4,462 3,344 
         
       24,455 22,020 
Non-Pay         
Direct Patient Care        
Drugs & Medicines      888 1,065 
Blood & Blood Products     170 214 
Medical Gases      58 64 
Medical & Surgical Supplies     1,619 1,916 
Other Medical Equipment     19 - 
Other Medical Equipment Supplies / Contracts On   518 534 
       3,272 3,793 
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       2020 2019 
       €’000 €’000 
Support Services          
X-Ray / Imaging Equipment     21 - 
X-Ray / Imaging supplies / Contracts On    446 665 
Laboratory Equipment     - - 
Laboratory Supplies / Contracts On    338 337 
Catering Equipment      - - 
Catering Provisions / Contracts On    236 244 
Heat, Power & Light      220 214 
Laundry, Cleaning & Washing Equipment    - - 
Laundry, Cleaning & Washing Supplies / Contracts On   807 778 
Furniture, Crockery & Hardware     16 21 
Bedding & Clothing      11 38 
Maintenance Equipment     - - 
Maintenance Materials Supplies / Contracts On   235 327 
Farm & Garden Equipment     - - 
Farm Supplies / Contracts On     2 3 
Travel & Subsistence      82 95 
Transport of Patients      - - 
Vehicles Purchases      - - 
Vehicles Supplies / Contracts On     - - 
       2,414 2,722 
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Financial And Administrative        2020 2019 
          €’000 €’000 
Loan Repayment Principal            
Non-Capital         - - 
Capital          - - 
Finance Lease Repayment-Principal Element       - - 
             
Bank Interest            
Overdraft          - -              
Non-Capital Loan         - - 
Capital Loan         - - 
Finance Lease Repayment-Interest Element       - - 
Bank Charges         8               6 
             
Other             
Insurance - Medical Defence        - -           
Insurance - Other         57 58 
Audit          37 27 
Legal          39 4 
Office Expenses (Rent & Rates, Postage, Phone)      123 121 
Office Supplies / Contracts On        289 289 
Computer Equipment         - - 
Computer Supplies / Contracts On       404 327 
Professional Services          41 20 
Bad Debts written off         - 82 
Adjustment to Doubtful Debts Provision       (199) (76) 
Misc. Non-Capital Exp. on Capital Projects       10 - 
Miscellaneous Expenses        345 349 
          1,154 1,207 
            
Total Non-Pay         6,840 7,722 
            
Total Gross Expenditure        31,295 29,742 
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       2020 2019 
Income       €’000 €’000 
Patient Income          
In-Patient       2,022 4,656 
Out-Patient      128 144 
       2,150 4,800 
Other Income        
Superannuation      573 570 
Other Payroll Deductions     429 463 
RTA Receipts      - - 
Income from External Agencies     - - 
Canteen Receipts      59 60 
Other Income (Non-Capital)     43 47 
Total Income      3,254 5,940 
         
Net Expenditure      28,041 23,802 
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